

### Doctoral Thesis No. 2021:74 Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science

## Immunological insights into equine responses against *Strongylus vulgaris*

*Ex vivo* studies using equine intestinal organoids and blood mononuclear cells

Stina Hellman



## Immunological insights into equine responses against *Strongylus vulgaris*

*Ex vivo* studies using equine intestinal organoids and blood mononuclear cells

#### Stina Hellman

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health Uppsala





DOCTORAL THESIS

Uppsala 2021

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2021:74

Cover: *Strongylus vulgaris* third stage larvae (photo: Stina Hellman)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-825-7 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-826-4 © 2021 Stina Hellman, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2021

# Immunological insights into equine responses against *Strongylus vulgaris – Ex vivo* studies using equine intestinal organoids and blood mononuclear cells

#### Abstract

Anthelminthic drugs have controlled parasitic infections in veterinary species for decades, but today this use is questioned due to concerns about antimicrobial resistance. For most microorganisms, a feasible alternative is vaccination but for parasites, commercial vaccines are scarce. This is partly due to the complex life cycles of most helminths together with their immunomodulatory capacity. In the horse, Strongylus vulgaris has recently gained attention due to its re-emergence in Sweden. The overall aim of the present thesis was therefore to establish ex vivo methods to study responses against S. vulgaris that can guide formulation of a future vaccine. In the search for relevant antigens, protocols for generating defined larval (L) stages were established. These S. vulgaris preparations, alone or in combination with an adjuvant, were evaluated for their cytokine-inducing capacity. All larval preparations induced a Th2 profile in equine PBMC characterised by up-regulation of IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-13 and TSLP. The L4 stage skewed this response by also upregulating IFN-y. The presence of a novel saponin adjuvant affected the Th2 profile induced by the L3 stage of S. vulgaris. To study responses to S. vulgaris at the site of infection, equine intestinal stem cells were differentiated into intestinal organoids. From these, monolayer cultures were established that displayed both genetic and functional similarities with the equine intestine, expressing pro-inflammatory cytokine genes at exposure to TLR-agonists. These organoid monolayers were applicable for generation of ex vivo co-cultures with equine PBMC and S. vulgaris larvae. Overall, this thesis provides new insights into the biology of S. vulgaris infection and *ex vivo* methods that will aid in the development of a future vaccine.

Keywords: Strongylus vulgaris, enteroids, equine, PBMC, ex vivo, parasite

Author's address: Stina Hellman, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health, Uppsala, Sweden

#### Immunological insights into equine responses against *Strongylus vulgaris – Ex vivo* studies using equine enteroids and blood mononuclear cells

#### Sammanfattning

Anthelmintika har under en lång tid varit ett effektivt sätt att bekämpa parasitinfektioner hos djur. På grund av risken för utveckling av läkemedelsresistens har användningen av anthelmintika numera ifrågasatts. Det rimliga alternativet för att kontrollera de flesta mikroorganismer är genom vaccin, men mot parasiter finns det väldigt få kommersiella vaccin. Detta beror dels på parasiters komplexa livscykler och dels på deras förmåga att manipulera immunförsvaret. Strongylus vulgaris har på senare tid blivit uppmärksammad med anledning av en ökad förekomst i Sverige. Målet med denna avhandling var därför etablera metoder för att studera immunreaktioner mot S. vulgaris som kan vägleda framtida formuleringar av ett vaccin. För att identifiera relevanta antigen etablerades metoder för odling av olika S. vulgaris larvstadier. Dessa larvpreparationer, ensamma eller i kombination med ett adjuvans, utvärderades för deras cytokininducerande förmåga. Alla larvstadier inducerade en Th2 profil i ekvina mononukleära blodceller (PBMC) genom upp-reglering av gener för IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-13 and TSLP. L4 stadiet skiljde sig däremot från de tidigare larvstadierna genom att även uppreglera IFN-y. Närvaron av ett saponinbaserat adjuvans påverkade Th2 profilen inducerat av S. vulgaris L3. För att studera rektioner mot S. vulgaris i tarmen etablerades cellkulturer från stamceller isolerade från hästens tarm, s.k. organoider. Från dessa utvecklades s.k. monolayers bestående av ett enskiktat lager av celler vilka visade både genetiska och funktionella likheter med hästens tarm, samt uttryckte gener for pro-inflammatoriska cytokiner vid exponering för TLR-agonister. Dessa monolayers kunde samodlas med ekvina PBMC och S. vulgaris larver. Sammanfattningsvis har denna avhandling genererat nya insikter om immunsvaret vid S. vulgaris infektion samt ex vivo metoder som kan användas i utvecklingen av ett framtida vaccin.

Nyckelord: Strongylus vulgaris, enteroider, häst, PBMC, parasit, ex vivo

Author's address: Stina Hellman, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health, Uppsala, Sweden

## Dedication

To my equine teachers Happy, Gullan, Charter, Pelle, Sita, HopSun and Smalltown Gangster

## Contents

List	of put	olicatior	าร	11
Rela	ated p	ublicatio	on	13
Abb	oreviati	ons		15
1.	Intro	oductio	n	17
2.	Bac	Background		
	21	2.1 Helminths and the immune defense		
		2.1.1	Innate immune recognition	
		2.1.2	Induction of acquired immunity	
		2.1.3	Antibody-mediated immunity	
		2.1.4	Cell mediated immunity	23
		2.1.5	Equine PBMC	25
		2.1.6	Effector mechanisms against GI helminths	26
	2.2	Strongylus vulgaris		28
		2.2.1	Life cycle	29
		2.2.2	Pathogenesis	
		2.2.3	Immune response	31
		2.2.4	Vaccination trials	
		2.2.5	SvSXP	
	2.3	2.3 Saponin adjuvants		
		2.3.1	ISCOMs	34
	2.4	Model	ling the equine intestine	36
		2.4.1	The equine intestine	36
		2.4.2	The intestinal epithelium	37
		2.4.3	Intestinal organoids	
3.	Aim	and ob	ojectives	41
4.	Comments on material and methods			43
	4.1 Blood donor horses			43

	4.2	Parasi	Parasite material			
	4.3	S. vulg	g <i>aris</i> larval cultures	44		
	4.4	Culture	es of equine PBMC			
		4.4.1	Culture conditions			
		4.4.2	Cell induction experiments			
		4.4.3	Set up of intracellular cytokine staining and cell	surface		
		phenot	typic characterization of equine IFN-γ producir	ng cells		
		(Adder	ndum)	47		
		4.4.4	SvSXP	48		
	4.5	Entero	ids			
		4.5.1	Generation and culture of equine enteroids			
		4.5.2	Establishment of enteroid-derived 2D monolayers.	50		
		4.5.3	Exposure of enteroid monolayers to microbial mim	ics51		
		4.5.4	Exposure of enteroid monolayers to S. vulgaris	s in the		
		preser	nce of Th polarizing cytokines	51		
		4.5.5	Enteroid-monolayer co-cultures			
	4.6	Gene e	expression analysis			
		4.6.1	RNA isolation and quality control	53		
		4.6.2	Synthesis of cDNA			
		4.6.3	Assays for qPCR			
		4.6.4	Normalization of gene expression	54		
5.	Resi	ults		55		
	5.1	Cytoki	ne responses to different larval stages of <i>S. vulgari</i> s	s (Paper		
	I)			55		
	5.2	Cytoki	ne responses to the G3 adjuvant (Paper I, II)	57		
	5.3	Cytoki	ne responses to the G3 adjuvant in combination w	ith TLR-		
	agonists or Strongyle larvae (Paper I, II)57					
		5.3.1	Phenotypic characterization of IFN-y producir	ng cells		
		(Adder	ndum)	58		
		5.3.2	Cytokine responses to SvSXP (Addendum)	61		
	5.4	Genera	ation of equine enteroids and enteroid-deriv	ved 2D		
	monolayers (Paper III)62					
	5.5	Cytoki	ne responses to TLR-agonists in enteroid-deri	ved 2D		
	mono	layers		62		
	5.6	5.6 Exposure of enteroid monolayers to S. vulgaris in the presence of				
	Th polarizing cytokines (Addendum)64					
	5.7	Expos	ure of enteroid monolayers to S. vulgaris at co-cult	ure with		
	eqPB	MC				

6.	Discussion	69	
7.	Future perspectives	77	
Refe	rences	79	
Popu	lar science summary	95	
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning			
Acknowledgements			

## List of publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- Hellman S, Tydén E, Hjertner B, Nilsfors F, Hu K, Morein B, Fossum C (2021). Cytokine responses to various larval stages of equine strongyles and modulatory effects of the adjuvant G3 in vitro. Parasite Immunology 43(1):e12794.
- II. Hellman S, Hjertner B, Morein B, Fossum C (2018). The adjuvant G3 promotes a Th1 polarizing innate immune response in equine PBMC. Veterinary Research, 49(1):108.
- III. Hellman S (2021). Generation of equine enteroids and enteroidderived 2D monolayers that are responsive to microbial mimics. Veterinary Research 52(1):108.

Papers I-III are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Stina Hellman to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I. Planned the study together with co-authors. Performed the laboratory experiments and analyzed the data. Wrote the manuscript with support from the co-authors.
- II. Planned the study together with co-authors. Performed the laboratory experiments and analyzed the data. Wrote the manuscript with support from the co-authors.
- III. Planned the study, performed the laboratory experiments, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.

## **Related** publication

Ahlberg V, Hjertner B, Wallgren P, **Hellman S**, Lövgren Bengtsson K, Fossum C (2017). Innate immune responses induced by the saponin adjuvant Matrix-M in specific pathogen free pigs. Vet Res 48(1):30.

## Abbreviations

2D	Two-dimensional
3D	Three-dimensional
AMM	Alternatively activated macrophages
APC	Antigen presenting cell
CD	Cluster of differentiation
cDNA	Complementary DNA
ConA	Concanavalin A
COVID19	Coronavirus disease of 2019
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
CTR	C-type lectin receptor
DAMP	Damage-associated molecular pattern
DC	Dendritic cell
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ES	Excretory-secretory
EPG	Eggs per gram
ExL3	Exsheated L3
Fc	Fragment crystallisable
FliC	Recombinant flagellin protein encoded by the fliC gene
GALT	Gut-associated lymphoid tissue
GI	Gastro-intestinal
H1N1	Hemagglutinin Neuraminidase
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
ILC	Innate lymphoid cell
ISCOM	Immunostimulating complexes

J-chain	Joining chain
L	Larval stage
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MALT	Mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue
M cell	Microfold cell
MD-2	Myeloid differentiation factor 2
MHCII	Major histocompatibility complex II
miRNA	Micro RNA
NK	Natural killer
NLR	Nod-like receptor
Pam3CSK4	Synthetic triacetylated lipoprotein
PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular pattern
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
pDC	Plasmacytoid dendritic cell
pIgR	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor
PMA	Phorbol myristate acetate
Poly I:C	Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
Quil A	Quillaja saponaria
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
RT-PCR	Real-time polymerase chain reaction
sIgA	Secretory immunoglobulin A
TGF	Transforming growth factor
TEER	Trans epithelial electrical resistance
Th	T helper
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TLR	Toll-like receptor
Treg	T regulatory
SAWA	Soluble adult worm antigen
SvSXP	S. vulgaris SXP protein

### 1. Introduction

Helminth parasite infections are widespread among all animal species affecting animal health and performance resulting in negative consequences for the agricultural sector (Foster & Elsheikha, 2012). The discovery of broad-spectrum anthelminthic compounds in the 1960s revolutionized both animal and human health. For the first time in history, parasite infections could be controlled leading to a reduced morbidity and mortality from parasitic disease. In the equine sector, anthelminthic treatments several times per year were originally aimed to control the large strongyle parasite *Strongylus vulgaris*. This treatment regime was extremely effective in reducing worm burdens, making *S. vulgaris* an uncommon equine parasite (Kaplan & Nielsen, 2010). Unfortunately, the frequent usage of anthelminthic drugs backfired as drug resistance emerged in other equine parasite species. Today, resistance against anthelminthic drugs is a recognized problem in the equine roundworm *Parascaris univalens* and small strongyles *Cyathostominae* spp. (reviewed by Raza et al, 2019).

To slow down the development of anthelmintic resistance, the European Union (2001/82/EG) issued treatment restrictions in 2007. In the Nordic countries, this was applied in practice by so-called "targeted selective treatment", by determining strongyle fecal egg counts (EPG) for all horses and only treat those exceeding a predetermined threshold. The aim were to achieve a reduction of overall egg shedding, while leaving a proportion of the herd untreated, which lowers anthelminthic treatment intensity and reduces selection pressure for development of anthelmintic resistance. However, reports from Sweden and Denmark show that the prevalence of *S. vulgaris* has increased the last years, coinciding with the new treatment

regime (Nielsen et al, 2012; Tydén et al., 2019) despite advices about improved pasture management routines (Hedberg-Alm et al, 2020).

With no novel anthelminthic drugs in sight (Nixon et al, 2020), alternative methods to control *S. vulgaris*, such as vaccination, are therefore warranted. Indeed, before the "era of anthelminthics", efforts were made to develop vaccines against a variety of helminths for several animal species, including the horse (Bain, 1999). The early attempts to produce vaccines against *S. vulgaris* used irradiated larval preparations as antigen (Klei et al, 1982; Monahan et al, 1994; Swiderski et al, 1999). These vaccines gave partial protection but were not further progressed when anthelminthic oral pastas became commercially available.

It is generally accepted that making vaccines against helminths is troublesome. Typically, helminths establish long-term chronic infections that cannot be resolved by the host's immune defense. This evasion is at least partly thought to rely on the helminth's ability to modulate the host's immune response. Three major obstacles for successful development of helminth vaccines can be summarized: (1) identification of relevant antigens from the parasite; (2) identification of the host's protective mechanisms, and (3) development of the appropriate stimuli needed to mobilize these pathways while at the same time overcoming the intrinsic immune regulatory capabilities of the parasite. Thus, knowledge about the biology of infection for the parasite of choice needs to be deepened to select relevant antigen(s) and adjuvant for vaccine formulation. Furthermore, a suitable *ex vivo* model is needed for initial screening of the proposed components.

## 2. Background

#### 2.1 Helminths and the immune defense

Parasitic helminths comprise the three taxonomic groups nematodes (roundworms), trematodes (flukes) and cestodes (tapeworms). They all differ in host and tissue specificity with different invasion routes and life-cycle pathways, making them a very heterogeneous group of organisms. However, the gastro-intestinal (GI) nematodes are similar in that they progress from eggs through multiple developmental stages, commonly referred to as "larval (L) stages" until becoming adult worms. The various developmental stages are separated by molting events when the cuticle surrounding the larval body is released. These shifts between larval stages are typically fast and often accompanied by migrations through different organs and tissues (Wiedemann & Voeringer 2020). In addition, molecules produced and released by helminths referred to as excretory-secretory (ES) products are immunomodulatory, meaning that they can interfere with the host's immune response (Maizels et al, 2018).

Most knowledge of nematode immunity comes from rodent laboratory models and the effector mechanisms necessary for elimination of GI nematodes of large animal species, such as the horse, have only been partly delineated (Foster & Elsheikha, 2012; Grencis 2015). Because of the migrating life cycle of *S. vulgaris*, the host's immune system is likely to be exposed to various antigen setups, representing different larval stages in different immune compartments including blood and intestinal mucosa. Below, I will give a brief overview of immune mechanisms generally involved in recognition, processing and elimination of GI helminths.

#### 2.1.1 Innate immune recognition

When a pathogen first infects a host, two types of alarm signals can trigger the immune defense that either sense molecular structures originating from the pathogen (pathogen associated molecular patterns; PAMPs) or from damaged tissue (danger associated molecular patterns; DAMPs). The PAMPs and DAMPs are recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) expressed by innate immune cells such as dendritic cells (DCs), monocytes/macrophages, mast cells, granulocytes, natural killer (NK) cells and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), but also by other cell types such as epithelial cells (reviewed in Kumar et al, 2011; Constant et al, 2021). There are several types of PRRs with different cellular localizations recognizing a vast array of conserved motifs expressed by microorganisms (Li and Wu, 2021). Although, there is no PAMP uniform for helminths, multiple types of PRRs can recognize helminth molecules. Of these, Toll-like receptors (TLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CTRs) and NOD-like receptors (NLRs) have most frequently been associated with helminth recognition (Perrigoue et al, 2008; Motran et al, 2018). The invasive nature of most GI nematodes also results in release of DAMPs from injured tissue. Recognition of PAMPs or DAMPs by PRRs rapidly trigger induction of inflammatory mediators such as cytokines and chemokines, which initiate and coordinate the ensuing immune response.

Cytokines are small secretory proteins that regulate most elements of the immune system and play a fundamental role in initiation of immune responses. Some cytokines have pleiotropic effects while others only induce a limited set of actions. Chemokines are cytokines able to act chemotactic for immune cells. Thus, chemokines are especially important to attract immune cells to the site of infection but also essential for cell trafficking at homeostasis. The kind of cytokines and chemokines that are elicited in response to a PAMP or DAMP influences the ensuing immune response (Borish & Steinke, 2003). Traditionally, helminth infections are associated with secretion of the cytokines interleukin-(IL)-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-13 along with the alarmins IL-25, IL-33 and thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) that all together support the initiation of a T helper cell type 2 (Th2) response (discussed in 2.1.6).

#### 2.1.2 Induction of acquired immunity

To initiate an antigen-specific immune response, the pathogen needs to be detected, engulfed and presented by professional antigen presenting cells (APCs). The most efficient APCs are the DCs, although other cell types such as macrophages and B-cells also can act as APCs. Interesting out of a parasite perspective are the eosinophilic granulocytes that also seem to be able to present antigens, although much less effective compared to DCs (Makepeace et al, 2012). Once a DC is activated, it migrates to the draining lymph node where it presents antigen peptides on MHC class II molecules to naïve CD4+ T helper (Th) cells. Activation and priming of naïve T cells requires three signals: (1) the antigen presented on MHCII is recognized by the T cell receptor (TCR); (2) co-stimulatory molecules on the DC bind to activation/deactivation receptors on the T cell; (3) priming cytokines guide differentiation to particular Th subsets specialized to induce different effector functions. However, T cell receptor engagement in the absence of signals 2 or 3 induces tolerance, and prolonged cytokine stimulation as well as cytokine pre-exposure can exhaust and/or impair the T cell response (Sckisel et al, 2015). Thus, persistent infections are likely to modulate the host's immune response, hindering development of an antigen-specific immune response, as seen for most helminth infections (Hewitson & Maizels, 2014). If, however, successfully primed, Th cells will migrate towards the B cell zone to aid B cell differentiation into plasma cells and antibody class switching.

#### 2.1.3 Antibody-mediated immunity

Helminth infections in mice are typically associated with elevated serum levels of the Th2 associated antibody subclasses IgE and IgG1 (Sorobetea et al, 2018). However, studies in sheep reveal that other IgG subclasses as well as IgA are induced at mucosal surfaces by different larval stages of GI helminths (Aboshady et al, 2020). In horses, early characterizations of equine IgG identified the five subclasses IgGa, IgGb, IgGc, IgG(T) and IgG(B). In current literature, seven equine IgG subclasses, designated IgG1-IgG7 are recognized. The former IgGa now corresponds to IgG1 and IgG2, IgG(T) corresponds to IgG3 and IgG5, IgGb corresponds to IgG4, and IgGc corresponds to IgG6 and IgG7 (Wagner, 2006). In addition, equine IgM, IgA and IgE have been described, which along with some of the seven IgG

subclasses can be quantified using a multiplex assay (Keggan et al, 2013). Although studies on antibody responses to equine parasites are limited, both *S. vulgaris* and cyathostomins, as well as the protozoan parasite *Theileria equi*, have been associated with increased levels of IgG(T) in serum (Dowdall et al, 2002; Mealey et al, 2012; Andersen et al, 2013a) indicating that this subclass (IgG3/IgG5 in present nomenclature) is induced by extracellular pathogens. A role for IgE at GI nematode infection in horses has been suggested (Pittaway et al, 2014) although not yet extensively evaluated in this context. Equine IgE is however known to mediate type 1 hypersensitivity reactions to *Culicoides* midge bites (Schaffartzik et al, 2012).

The majority of plasma cells residing in the intestinal mucosa express IgA. Class switching to IgA is supported by multiple factors, but the most important is transforming growth factor (TGF)-B. This cytokine enables development of antigen-specific IgA, propagation of long-lived plasma cells and memory B cells (Lycke & Bemark, 2017). IgA antibodies that are secreted into the intestinal lumen occur in dimers paired by the J-chain protein. J-chain ligation to the polymeric Ig receptor (plgR) expressed on the basolateral surface of the epithelium mediates uptake and transport into the intestinal lumen. In the lumen, the secreted IgA (sIgA) can bind to antigens on both commensals and pathogens, to neutralize or inhibit their functions as well as facilitate antigen transport and presentation by mucosal DCs (Bunker & Bendelac, 2018). As in other mammal species, sIgA is the dominating isotype in nasopharyngeal secretions and saliva of horses (Palm et al, 2016; Schnabel et al, 2017). Molecular characterization of the equine IgA system, including J-chain and pIgR, show both genetic and functional similarities with human IgA (Lewis et al, 2010). In addition, there is a high level of homology between human and equine FcaRI (Morton et al, 2005) suggesting that equine IgA can mediate cellular effector responses similar to those described in man. Yet, equine IgA has mostly been studied in the context of respiratory infections (e.g. Crouch et al, 2005; Bordin et al, 2014; Bannai et al, 2021) and there is a limited knowledge about IgA at GI infection in the horse. However, a recent pilot study found a positive correlation between strongvle EPG and sIgA in feces (Żak et al, 2021), indicating a role of IgA at strongyle infection.

#### 2.1.4 Cell mediated immunity

The T helper cells can be further divided into subsets based on their cytokine profile and transcription factors. In mice, Th1 and Th2 cells were first discerned based on their ability to produce IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  or induce switch to IgG1 and IgE at *in vitro* stimulations (Mosmann et al, 1986). In accordance, human Th1 cells producing IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  could be discriminated from Th2 cells producing IL-4 and IL-5 at *in vitro* stimulation with antigens from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *Toxocara canis*, respectively (Del Prete et al, 1991). From these early studies, Th1 cells producing IFN- $\gamma$  are regarded as protective against infection by virus, intracellular bacteria and protozoa, while Th2 cells producing IL-4 are supposed to contribute to the protection against helminths.

Since the first description of Th1 and Th2 cells, other Th subsets have been identified such as T regulatory cells (Treg) that can control immune reactions by secretion of the immunosuppressive cytokines TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10 (Josefowicz et al, 2012). Th17 cells are characterized by a high production of IL-17 and shown to be protective against some extracellular bacteria and fungi but also associated with autoimmune disease (Harrington et al, 2006). In the horse, similar Th subsets have been identified mainly characterized by their cytokine profile (Wagner et al, 2010) or their transcriptional profile (Fedorka et al, 2021).

The more recently described Th9 subset develops in the presence of TGF- $\beta$  and IL-4 and its effector functions have been associated with allergy and autoimmune disease as well as with helminth immunity (Kaplan, 2013; Licona-Limón et al, 2017). Cytokines from activated Th cells can also differentiate CD8+ T cells to cytotoxic T cells (CTLs). However, CTLs are mostly associated with intracellular infection and assumed to play a little role at GI helminth infection (Sorobetea et al, 2018).

The Th1, Th2 and Th17 cells seem to have their innate lymphoid cell (ILC) counterparts referred to as ILC1s, ILC2s or ILC3s (reviewed by Vivier et al, 2018; Panda & Colonna, 2019). These cells lack antigen-specific receptors but are activated via receptors for alarmins, neurotransmittors and components from nutrients and microorganisms. The type 2 innate lymphoid

cells (ILC2s) have emerged as a major producer of type 2 cytokines, predominantly IL-5 and IL-13, in response to GI helminths (Neill et al, 2010; Price et al, 2010). In contrast to Th2 cells, ILC2s do not require antigen presentation, but are rapidly activated by cytokines and DAMPs, predominantly by the alarmins IL-33, IL-25 and TSLP released from parasite-infected tissue. In response to the alarmins, ILC2s produce IL-5 and IL-13 that support recruitment of eosinophils, Th2 cell differentiation and tissue repair (Lloyd & Snelgrove, 2018). Moreover, ILCs express MHCII and can interact with naïve T cells in vitro and promote Th2 polarization in vivo (Mirchandani et at, 2014; Oliphant et al, 2014). The maintenance of ILC2s is further supported by IL-2 secreted by Th2 cells suggesting a mutual cooperation between Th cells and ILC2s during the immune response (Mirchandani et at, 2014). Thus, ILC2s are not only important for initiating local responses; they also seem to play a central part in bridging the innate and adaptive immune response together to support development and maintenance of a Th2 response.

Another link between the innate and adaptive immune response seem to be formed by the gamma-delta T cells ( $\gamma/\delta$  T) that shape the cytokine profile according to the type of infectious agent they encounter (Ferrik et al, 1995). The  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells are rarely found in lymphoid organs. Instead, they reside in barrier surfaces of many peripheral tissues, such as the intestinal mucosa, where they play a key role in immune surveillance (Suzuki et al, 2020). A role for  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells at helminth infection was demonstrated by Inagaki-Ohara et al (2011) showing that the  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells are an important source of IL-13, necessary for expulsion of the murine GI helminth *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis*.

Both ILCs and  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells are mainly residing in the mucosal tissue. In fact, the intestine harbor the largest population of immune cells anywhere in the body (as reviewed in humans by Mörbe et al, 2021). Resident immune cells are scattered in the lamina propria and epithelium or reside in gut associated lymphoid tissues (GALT). The GALT includes infiltrates of the lamina propria, isolated lymphoid follicles, Peyer's patches and mesenteric lymph nodes. The Peyer's patches are organized clusters of lymphoid follicles that are important sites for initiation of antigen-specific immune responses. The epithelial monolayer lining the lymphoid follicles differ from

the normal epithelium that it consists of enterocytes interspersed with specialized epithelial cells called microfold (M) cells. A limited presence of mucus secreting cells, like goblet cells, makes the follicle-associated epithelium directly exposed to luminal contents. In the absence of damage to the epithelium, the M cells serve as a gateway for antigen transport from the intestinal lumen to the lymphoid follicle. Luminal antigens can also be captured via other routes, e.g. through internalization in goblet cells (McDole et al, 2012) or by transepithelial macrophages or DCs (Rescigno et al, 2001).

In horses, the mucosal associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) has been less studied in the gut compared to the respiratory tract. Unique for horses, as well as for some ruminants and pigs, is the long oval shape of the Peyer's patches in the small intestine. In the horse, the Peyer's patches develop during gestation, reaching a size of 20-35 cm in newborn foals. The size of the Peyer's patches increases with age and remain in constant numbers for the first couple of years before gradually disappearing in the elderly horse (Liebler-Tenorio & Pabst, 2006).

#### 2.1.5 Equine PBMC

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) are commonly used to assess immune capacity in human and veterinary medicine. Isolation of PBMCs by density gradient centrifugation generates a mix of immune cells including a low proportion of monocytes, DCs, ILCs and NK cells, the majority being T and B-lymphocytes and thus reflecting aspects of a systemic immune response. In parasitological research, ovine and caprine PBMCs have been used to study immune reactions to worm antigens (e.g. Wang et al, 2019; Jacobs et al, 2020; Naqvi et al, 2020) and equine PBMCs isolated from *S. vulgaris* infected horses were used to study the re-call response to *S. vulgaris* antigens (Dennis et al, 1993).

Several reagents for phenotyping of equine PBMC (eqPBMC) are available but overall the reagent toolbox is very limited compared to both mice, humans and many other animal species (Kydd et al, 1994; Lunn et al, 1998; Flaminio et al 2007; Ibrahim et al, 2007). Notably, several important T-cell markers e.g. discriminating  $\alpha/\beta$ TCR and  $\gamma/\delta$ TCR, are missing. However, transcriptional analysis of both  $\alpha/\beta$ TCR and  $\gamma/\delta$ TCR have previously identified these cells in eqPBMCs (Tschetter et al, 1997). For equine T cells, only antibodies to equine CD3, CD4, CD8a and CD8b have been developed (Lunn et al, 1998). All three DC subsets, DC1, DC2 and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) have previously been confirmed in eqPBMC where pDCs were shown to produce large amounts of IFN- $\alpha$  upon TLR9 activation (Ziegler et al, 2016).

As an alternative, cytokine profiles elicited at antigen exposure can be used to characterize the T cell response. Such functional studies of eqPBMC are at large comparable to other mammals, as demonstrated by the gene- and microRNA profiles induced by lipopolysaccharide from *E. coli* in eqPBMC (Pacholewska et al, 2017; Parkinsson et al, 2017). However, there seem to be some species-specific differences in the reactivity to TLR stimulation making it problematic to translate results obtained from other species directly to the horse (Figueiredo et al, 2009; Wattrang et al, 2012; Vendrig et al, 2013; Pacholewska et al, 2017).

Recently, the cellular landscape of eqPBMC was mapped using a single cell RNA sequencing approach (Patel et al, 2021). This transcriptional profiling of CD3+ lymphocytes confirmed different clusters of CD4+ and/or CD8+ expressing cells as well as indicated the presence of equine  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells and NK cells (Patel et al, 2021). Unexpectedly, the majority of B cells in the eqPBMCs were T-bet+ memory B cells. This is a B cell subpopulation that in humans has been associated with both protective and pathogenic immune responses (Knox et al, 2019), but the role of equine T-bet+ B cells remain to be elucidated. Moreover, the study demonstrated that several immune cell subpopulations, such as different subtypes of monocytes and DCs, were analogous to those described in human and mouse (Patel et al, 2021).

#### 2.1.6 Effector mechanisms against GI helminths

A Th2 response results in physiological changes in the intestine characterized by increased gut contractility, goblet- and tuft cell hyperplasia, faster epithelial cell turnover and increased mucus production that together facilitate helminth expulsion from the intestinal lumen. This response is commonly referred to as the "weep and sweep response" (Sorobetea et al, 2018). Essential for initiation of this response are the until recently neglected tuft cells (Schneider et al, 2019) and the newly described ILC2s (Vivier et al, 2018). Tuft cells are epithelial cells that can sense unknown helminth PAMPs and respond with production of TSLP and IL-25. These cytokines, together with the alarmin IL-33 that are released by damaged epithelial cells, activate ILC2s resident in the underlying mucosa. In return, ILC2s produce large amounts of type 2 cytokines, such as IL-13, that further activates the tuft cells. Interaction of IL-13 with the IL-4 $\alpha$  receptor affects stem cell differentiation and promotes tuft cell hyperplasia, thus creating a positive feedback loop between tuft cell-produced IL-25 and ILC2-produced IL-13 (von Moltke et al, 2015; Gerbe et al, 2016). Together with IL-4, mainly released by Th2 cells, IL-13 mediates goblet cell hyperplasia and increased mucus production important for helminth expulsion (Gerbe et al, 2016).

One of the early-recruited cell population that is a hallmark for helminth infection is the eosinophilic granulocyte. The presence of IL-5 can activate eosinophils to release granules containing a cocktail of toxic compounds. This degranulation can however be mediated through multiple pathways such as PRR ligation, cytokine activation, or Fc receptor engagement (Makepeace et al, 2012). Similar mechanisms are effectuated by basophils and mast cells that release massive amounts of chemical mediators upon ligation of IgE to the high-affinity FccRI. The role of mucosal mast cells and IgE in host protection against GI helminths has however been debated as not all experimental models demonstrate a protective role for mast cells (reviewed by Grencis, 2015). Regardless, mast cells, basophils and eosinophils are early sources of IL-4 at helminth infection making them important for initiating and maintaining Th2 responses (Anthony et al, 2007; Makepeace et al, 2012).

Helminth infection are also known to cause differentiation of "alternatively activated macrophages" (AAMs). These AAMs contribute to helminth resistance by controlling pro-inflammatory- and Th1 reactions, promoting Th2 responses and supporting wound healing (Kreider et al, 2007). In addition, AAMs can together with neutrophils, DCs and Th2 cells contribute to the formation of granulomas, shown to be essential for protection against the murine GI nematode *H. polygyrus* (Anthony et al,

2006). However, granuloma formation enables the parasite to "hide" and can thereby contribute to persistence of the infection.

The production of excretory/secretory (ES) products also enables helminths to interfere with the host's immune response creating a skewed immune phenotype unable to clear the infection. ES products can be both byproducts from the helminth's metabolism or actively secreted products that facilitate the helminth's establishment and survival in the infected tissue. ES products comes in various forms and can consist of various types of molecules, commonly proteins, lipids or glycoproteins. Most studied are the protein modulators, which are known to act on every phase of the immune response, from antigen recognition to effector mechanisms. Many ES proteins enhance Treg responses, skew the expression of Th polarizing cytokines or reduce the Th proliferation (reviewed by Maizels et al 2018). The recent discovery of helminth excreted extracellular vesicles (EVs) has further expanded the repertoire of immune modulatory ES products. The excretion of EVs provide an opportunity for helminths to deliver fragile material into host cells, often micro RNA, (miRNA) that e.g. can interfere with expression of immune related genes (Tritten & Geary, 2018). Several studies have demonstrated that induction of an antibody response that block ES proteins results in a higher expulsion rate and/or reduced egg burden (Maizels et al, 2018). Accordingly, EVs have been used as antigen in experimental vaccines against the murine nematodes Heligosomoides polygyrus and Trichuris muris, and the trematodes Opisthorchis viverrini and Echinostoma caproni generating EV-specific antibodies and reduced egg burden after challenge (Trelis et al, 2016; Coakley et al, 2017; Shears et al, 2018; Chaiyadet et al, 2019).

#### 2.2 Strongylus vulgaris

*Strongylus vulgaris* is considered to be the most pathogenic parasite of horses. This parasite belongs to the superfamily Strongyloidea containing equine nematodes of the intestinal tract, including *Cyathostominae spp.* (small strongyles), *Strongylus edentatus* and *Strongylus equinus* (Nielsen & Reinemeyer, 2018). The members of this superfamily are alike in several aspects, e.g. they share a similar morphology, they have a direct life cycle,

the infective stage is the L3 stage and the only method to differentiate between the species is through fecal culture and subsequent morphological assessment of the larvae or by real-time PCR (Nielsen et al, 2008; Kaspar et al, 2017). Moreover, the cyathostomins are highly abundant in the horse population resulting in that *S. vulgaris* most often occurs in co-infection with cyathostomins.

#### 2.2.1 Life cycle

The life cycle of S. vulgaris consists of a free-living and a parasitic phase (Figure 1). Eggs are shed on the pasture through faeces of infected horses. First stage larvae (L1) hatches from the eggs, develop to L2 and then to infective L3 stage larvae. At the free-living stage, the L3 are encapsulated in their L2 cuticle that serves as a protection against environmental conditions. When a horse ingests L3, the L2 cuticle is cast off in the alimentary tract, in a process called exsheatment. The exsheated L3s (exL3) penetrate the mucosa and submucosa of the distal small intestine, cecum and/or colon. After two to three days in the submucosa, the exL3 moults into a fourth stage (L4). The L4 stage of S. vulgaris penetrates the arterioles in the submucosa, reaches the mesenteric arteries and continue their migration through the arterial system, against the blood flow, until reaching the cranial mesenteric artery about 14 days post infection. There, the L4s continue to grow for three to four months before they molt into the fifth stage (L5) that finally migrates back to the large intestine. When the pre-adult L5 larvae reaches the large intestine, the larvae are encapsulated in small nodules in the intestinal wall. Eventually these nodules rupture to release adult larvae into the intestinal lumen where the larvae need six to eight more weeks to sexually mature and produce eggs. Together, these extensive migrations can take between 6-7 months (McGraw & Slocombe, 1976). This long pre-patent period complicates the diagnosis of S. vulgaris infection as most available diagnostic tests for S. vulgaris infection are based on cultivation of L3 from excreted eggs (Andersen et al, 2013a).



Figure 1. Life cycle of S. vulgaris.

#### 2.2.2 Pathogenesis

The pathology of *S. vulgaris* is related to the larval migration and has been described in detail by Duncan & Pirie (1975). Notably, already at two days post infection haemorrhagic foci can be observed in the intestinal mucosa. After a few days more, a local inflammatory response occurs in the submucosa. This response is characterised by infiltration of neutrophils, lymphocytes, macrophages, and eosinophils and is coincident with L4 maturation. During the next following weeks, signs of infarction, thrombosis and thickening of the mesenteric arteries can be observed. At this early phase of infection, tortuous fibrin tracts are found in the intimal space of the arteries. The late L4 and L5 stages are associated with lesions and clot

formation in the cranial mesenteric and ileo-cecal-colic arteries (Duncan & Pirie, 1975). Thus, the larval migration of *S. vulgaris* can cause severe damage to the blood vessels supplying the intestine, potentially resulting in life-threatening non-strangulating intestinal infarction (Pihl et al, 2018).

#### 2.2.3 Immune response

Early studies show that the immune response against migratory *S. vulgaris* larvae is characterized by recruitment and activation of eosinophils and neutrophils (Turk & Klei, 1984; Dennis et al, 1992; Dennis et al, 1993; Monahan et al, 1994) as well as production of antibodies (Klei et al, 1983; Swiderski et al, 1999). Increased levels of IgM, IgGa, IgGb, IgG(T) and IgA have been recorded at *S. vulgaris* infection (Swiderski et al, 1999). Out of these, IgGa, IgG(T) and IgA have been associated with immune protection (Swiderski et al, 1999; Edmonds, 2001).

Several early studies especially highlighted eosinophils as very important for *S. vulgaris* resistance. This activation was demonstrated by a higher frequency of eosinophils expressing Fc and complement receptors in *S. vulgaris* infected horses compared to that in uninfected horses (Dennis et al, 1988). Another study showed that eosinophils, but not neutrophils, from *S. vulgaris* infected ponies were able to kill *S. vulgaris* larvae in an antibody dependent manner *in vitro* (Klei et al, 1992). In addition, cytokines chemotactic for eosinophils were found in supernatants from cultures of PBMC obtained from *S. vulgaris* immune ponies, but not in cultures of PBMC obtained from naïve ponies, at *in vitro* re-stimulation (Dennis et al, 1993). In accordance, gene expression analysis of cytokines in PBMC from experimentally infected horses revealed an up-regulation of IL-5 two weeks post infection (Swiderski et al, 1999).

#### 2.2.4 Vaccination trials

In the 1980s and 90s, experimental immunizations using attenuated *S. vulgaris* L3 were conducted by researchers at the University of Kentucky, USA. *S. vulgaris* L3 were attenuated using Cobalt<sup>60</sup> radiation and different doses were tested on pony foals by oral inoculations (Klei et al, 1982). Overall, immunization with radiation-attenuated *S. vulgaris* L3 reduced both the larval burdens and clinical signs at challenge infections (Klei et al, 1982; Monahan et al, 1994; Swiderski et al, 1999). The immunized ponies did not

develop thrombosis or arteritis but instead showed signs of periportal fibrosis in the intestinal submucosa indicating that the protective immune response was directed against the late L3 or L4 stage of larval development. Intramuscular injection of crude soluble homogenates from larval (L3 and L4) preparations together with a Ribi adjuvant induced higher pre-challenge antibody titres compared to the recipients of attenuated larvae, but did not generate immune protection. On the contrary, parental immunization with somatic extracts seemed to sensitize these ponies resulting in a heightened response to challenge (Monahan et al, 1994).

The partial protection from oral immunization with attenuated L3s was associated with activation of eosinophils and production of *S. vulgaris*-specific antibodies reinforcing that this combined response is important for protection (Dennis et al, 1988; Klei et al, 1992; Monahan et al, 1994). The levels of antibodies specific for a soluble adult worm antigen (SAWA) from *S. vulgaris*, was estimated in vaccinates and non-vaccinates following challenge (Dennis et al, 1992). Both vaccinates and non-vaccinates produced similar levels of SAWA-specific IgM, IgGa and IgGb while only the vaccinates produced IgG(T) following challenge. In addition, the levels of IgA increased in both experimental groups after challenge but reached higher levels in the non-vaccinates. Transcriptional analysis of cytokine genes indicated an increase in IL-4 and IL-5 and a decrease in IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  expression in the vaccinated group following challenge. A similar response was recorded for non-vaccinates but appeared to be temporarily delayed compared to vaccinated ponies (Swiderski et al, 1999).

Despite these promising results, the emergence of efficient and easily administrated anthelminthic drugs in the 1980-90s made development of parasite vaccines less prioritized, resulting in that the *S. vulgaris* vaccine project in Kentucky ceased in the late 90s and changed focus to improve the diagnostics of *S. vulgaris*.

#### 2.2.5 SvSXP

For the purpose of developing an immunodiagnostic assay indicating prepatent *S. vulgaris* infection, a protein expressed by migrating *S. vulgaris* larvae, designated SvSXP, was identified (Andersen et al, 2013b). By screening a larval *S. vulgaris* cDNA library using hyperimmune serum raised

against *S. vulgaris* ES antigens, SvSXP was identified as the only positive clone, indicating that SvSXP is an immunodominant protein (Andersen et al, 2013a; 2013b). Sequence analysis revealed that SvSXP is homologous to the SXP/RAL-2 group of proteins that exists in a broad range of nematodes. Interestingly, some of the SXP/RAL-2 protein family members have been evaluated as vaccine candidates against several nematode species, such as *Ascaris suum*, *Brugia malayi* and *Ancylostoma caninum* (Wang et al, 1997; Tsuji et al, 2001; Fujiwara et al, 2007; Wei et al, 2017).

A recombinant SvSXP protein is currently used as antigen in an enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) to measure SvSXP-specific IgG(T) antibodies in the bloodstream of horses (Andersen et al, 2013b; Nielsen et al, 2014; Nielsen et al, 2015; Hedberg-Alm et al, 2020). In a cohort of naturally infected 2-year-old horses, ELISA-positive IgG(T) titers lasted up to 5 months after anthelminthic treatment (Nielsen et al, 2015). In foals, positive ELISA values were not obtained until 3-5 months of age, indicating a protective role of maternal antibodies (Nielsen et al, 2014).

Except for its potential in diagnostics, the immunogenicity of SvSXP makes it an interesting candidate to explore as a vaccine antigen. Within this thesis project, studies on immunomodulatory effects of the recombinant SvSXP protein are initiated (Addendum) along with studies on a novel saponin adjuvant formulation.

#### 2.3 Saponin adjuvants

Adjuvants are components capable of enhancing and/or shaping antigenspecific immune responses. Traditionally, vaccines have been composed of live attenuated or inactivated microorganisms, which by their heterogeneous structure naturally contain both antigen epitopes and multiple PAMPs that activate the immune system. However, many modern vaccines built on purified protein antigens lack these inherent adjuvant properties, making them less immunogenic. Therefore, protein or subunit vaccines need to be formulated with an adjuvant to induce an immune response that is potent enough to give a long-lasting protection (Reed et al, 2013). Except for strengthening the immunogenicity of an antigen, adjuvants can also be used to broaden the immune profile, e.g. against viruses with high antigenic drift, or to counteract undesirable immune modulatory capacities, e.g. by parasite antigens (Reed et al, 2013; Zawawi & Else 2020).

In veterinary medicine, several types of vaccine adjuvants are used. These includes aluminium salts, emulsions, carbomers, liposomes and immune stimulating complexes (ISCOMs), that all have different compositions, shapes and mode of actions. Some mainly serve as delivery agents (e.g. emulsions) while others also have immune stimulatory properties (e.g. ISCOMs). In some vaccines, adjuvants are combined with PRR agonists that, through induction of cytokines, help guide the immune response in a desired direction (Reed et al, 2013; Burakova et al, 2017). In the present thesis, the immunomodulatory effects of a novel particulate adjuvant referred to as "G3" was evaluated *in vitro* using eqPBMC. The cytokine inducing capacity of G3, alone or together with TLR-agonists or *S. vulgaris* larvae, was assessed using qPCR and ELISA (paper I and II). The G3 adjuvant is a descendant to the ISCOMs, which is why I will give a brief description of ISCOMs as well as G3.

#### 2.3.1 ISCOMs

The original ISCOM consisted of purified Quillaja saponin (Quil A), cholesterol, phospholipids and viral envelope proteins that were formulated into three-dimensional 40 nm cage-like structures (Morein et al, 1984). This composition was one of the first vaccine formulations that delivered a subunit protein antigen to the cytosol with subsequent induction of CTLs (Jones et al, 1988; Takahashi et al, 1990). Some years later, it was demonstrated that the antigen does not need to be physically integrated in the ISCOM particle but can simply be mixed with the ISCOM-Matrix before administration (Lövgren-Bengtsson & Sjölander, 1996). The immune modulatory capacity of the ISCOM-Matrix was fine-tuned by varying the ratios of the purified saponin subfractions OHA and OHC generating MatrixA and MatrixC, respectively, and was manufactured as Matrix-M<sup>TM</sup> by Isconova AB, Uppsala. The combination of these immune-stimulatory components with a structure and size optimal for antigen delivery is known to induce a balanced Th1/Th2 response with long-lasting antibody production (Lövgren Bengtsson et al., 2011). Matrix-M is currently used in a number of veterinary vaccines, including the equine Influenza vaccine (Equilis® Prequenza), and in the recently licensed vaccine against Strangles (Strangvac) from Intervacc AB, Stockholm.

The adjuvant technology of Matrix-M is today hold by the US company Novavax (https://www.novavax.com/our-unique-technology#matrix-madjuvant-technology) and applied in phase 3 studies of experimental vaccines against seasonal influenza, Respiratory Syncytial Virus and Coronavirus (https://www.novavax.com/our-pipeline). The Swedish government has recently signed a pre-purchase agreement with Novavax for 2.2 million doses of their subunit COVID19 vaccine (NVX-CoV2373).

A later adaptation of the ISCOM-technology is the "third generation formula", here referred to as the G3 adjuvant. The G3 adjuvant has been supplied by MoreinX AB (Uppsala, Sweden) as Adjuvag-V100<sup>TM</sup> but is now licensed to Brenntag Biosector A/S (Frederikssund, Denmark) that has marketed the product as NanoQuil® (Croda Denmark A/S, Frederiksund, Denmark). The G3 adjuvant formula resembles that of ISCOMs but differ in that it lacks phospholipids, which makes it easy to produce at a lower cost. The G3 nanoparticle is around 20 nm and has a high bioavailability that makes it useful for both oral and parental administration (Patent no. WO 2013/051994). The G3 formula allows for incorporation of other immune stimulating molecules making it possible to "tailor-make" the vaccine formula to induce a desired immune response. This versatility was demonstrated by incorporation of a diterpene in the G3 formula, which enhanced and broadened the immune response to H1N1 influenza virus strains in mice (van de Sandt et al, 2014). Immunization trials in mice combining influenza virus antigens with either Adjuvaq-V100 or aluminum hydroxide resulted in comparable levels of antigen specific IgG1 (Th2 associated subclass) but substantially higher level of antigen specific IgG2a (Th1 associated subclass) compared to alum (Hjertner et al, 2018a). A similar Th1 profile was recorded in cultures of porcine PBMCs after in vitro exposure to the G3 adjuvant (Hjertner et al, 2018b).
### 2.4 Modelling the equine intestine

To allow *in vitro* studies of helminth antigens in combination with adjuvant formulations, improved culture systems reflecting the natural route of infection are urgently needed. At present, there is a lack of such *in vitro/ex vivo* models that can more closely replicate the interactions of parasites with its host at mucosal surfaces. In this context, stem cell-derived organoid cultures has emerged as a new *ex vivo* tool that can potentially be used to study host-parasite interactions (Duque-Correa et al, 2020). In addition, methods to co-culture immune cells with organoid cells are starting to emerge (Noel et al, 2017; Spalinger et al, 2020; Staab et al, 2020). In the present thesis, I have used equine intestinal organoids (paper III) to study reactions to the G3 adjuvant, TLR-agonists and preparations of *S. vulgaris* larvae *ex vivo*.

#### 2.4.1 The equine intestine

Compared to other herbivore species, the horse's GI tract is unique by its highly developed large hindgut. The major function of the horse's colon and caecum is to ferment dietary fibers from forage, which is dependent on an active and well-functioning microflora with fibrolytic activity (Costa & Weese, 2012). External factors such as GI nematode infection, dietary changes or antibiotic treatment can lead to microbial dysbiosis (Peachey et al, 2019; Collinet et al, 2021a, 2021b) likely affecting the local immune response. For example, treatment with a broad-spectrum antibiotic resulted in loss of commensals and bloom of potential pathobionts affecting immune homeostasis as shown by increased concentrations of sIgA in feces and decreased TNF- $\alpha$  levels in serum samples (Collinet et al, 2021a).

The intestinal epithelium in most species express a variety of PRRs enabling recognition of both commensal and pathogenic microorganisms (Andrews et al, 2018). However, studies on the expression of PRRs in the equine intestine is limited (Vendrig & Fink-Gremmels, 2012; Werners & Bryant, 2012). Expression of TLR4, along with the co-receptors MD-2 and CD14 has been tested and confirmed in tissue sections from equine ileum, dorsal colon and rectum (Fossum et al, 2012; Olofsson et al, 2015). In the same study, cytokine expression of IL-12p40, IL-17A and IL-23p19 was

recorded in seven tissue sections of the equine intestine, from duodenum to rectum, as well as in rectum biopsies from both healthy horses and horses with clinical signs of equine inflammatory bowel disease (Hjertner et al, 2013; Olofsson et al, 2015). Furthermore, the cytokine expression patterns in the equine intestinal mucosa at cyathostomin infection has been evaluated in tissue sections from the large intestine (Davidson et al, 2002, 2005; Steuer et al, 2020).

#### 2.4.2 The intestinal epithelium

The lack of equine specific reagents has limited detection of different cell lineages present in the equine small and large intestine. However, each known type of epithelial cell in the small intestine has also been identified in equine intestinal tissue using cross-reactive antibodies or transmission electron microscopic imaging (Gonzales et al, 2015).

The intestinal mucosal surface is composed of a single layer of columnar epithelial cells overlain by a mucus layer that physically separates the epithelium from direct contact with the microbiota. The epithelial cells are linked by tight junctions, adherence junctions and desmosomes that regulate barrier integrity and permeability. Most cells of the intestinal epithelium are involved in water and nutrient absorption but some are also important for immune regulation. The epithelium of the small intestine contains regular small cavities, called crypts of Lieberkühn, which contains stem cells interspersed by Paneth cells. The small intestine further contains villi that protrude from the epithelia to maximize absorption of nutrients. As the stem cells divide, progenitor cells progress through the crypt-villus axis and eventually differentiate to either absorptive enterocytes (dominant cell type) or to more specialized cell types, such as enteroendocrine-, goblet- or tuft cells (Gonzales et al, 2015). When they reach the tip of the villi, normally after 5-6 days, the cells go into a form of detachment-induced cell death referred to as anoikis (Figure 2).

The epithelial turnover requires a balanced regulation between cellular proliferation and cellular losses to remain in homeostasis. When the epithelial integrity is challenged, e.g. by invading parasites, the rate of epithelial turnover can however change. In fact, most GI helminths disrupts the epithelial barrier at some point during infection by mechanisms not well understood for most helminth species. As a result, the intestinal integrity becomes impaired causing an increase in intestinal permeability. To compensate, the speed of epithelial turnover often increases at helminth infection (McKay et al, 2017).

#### 2.4.3 Intestinal organoids

Organoids are stem cell-derived three-dimensional cultures that resembles the architecture and cell composition of the organ of origin. Small intestinal organoids, referred to as enteroids, were first generated from murine crypts cultured in the presence of intestinal niche growth factors supported by extracellular matrix components (Sato et al, 2009). Since then, the enteroid technology has become standardized in mice and humans, and are now beginning to be explored for veterinary species, including the horse (Bartfield, 2016; Steiler Stewart et al, 2017; Kar et al, 2021). The culture system utilizes the inherent ability of the intestinal epithelia to self-renew and differentiate to specialized intestinal cell types. Accordingly, enteroids contain most cell lineages of the small intestine, such as stem cells, enterocytes, enteroendocrine cells, goblet cells, paneth cells and tuft cells, reflecting important aspects of the original architecture and function of the intestinal epithelia (Figure 2). Enteroid cultures have a wide range of applications and have been used to model gastrointestinal infections, gutmicrobiota interactions and inflammatory diseases (Bartfield, 2016).



Figure 2. Illustration of the epithelium in the equine small intestine and enteroid cultures. The composition of cell lineages and their distribution along the epithelium of the small intestine are reflected in the equine enteroids.

One limitation with the 3D enteroid model is its enclosed morphology, with the apical surface of the epithelia facing inwards and the basolateral surface facing outwards. This makes it difficult to access the enteroid lumen and expose the apical surface to experimental treatments. This is especially problematic when it comes to large complex helminths that, depending on the species and life cycle stage, simply cannot fit into the 3D enteroid. However, there are several strategies to gain access to the apical surface of the epithelum, e.g. by microinjection, "inside-out enteroids" or enteroid-derived 2D monolayers, as recently demonstrated in studies of enteropathogenic bacteria (Co et al, 2019; Geiser et al, 2021; Samperio Ventayol et al, 2021). In fact, most infection studies using enteroids are on bacteria, viruses or protozoa, and very little is published on helminths (Duque-Correa et al, 2020). A few studies have used enteroids to study

epithelial responses to ES products (Eichenberger et al, 2018; Chandra et al, 2019; Luo et al, 2019) and some studies have indirectly investigated the effect of helminth-induced immune responses on the intestinal epithelium. For example, the role of IL-13 in tuft cell activation was partly demonstrated in murine enteroids (von Moltke et al, 2016; Luo et al, 2019). To my knowledge, there is currently only one paper describing direct interactions of living helminths with enteroid cells (Smith et al, 2021). However, new adaptations of enteroid culture methods such as enteroid-derived 2D monolayers or inside-out enteroids open up for future studies of hosthelminth interactions. In addition, methods to co-culture enteroid cells with immune cells allows for studies of cross-communication between different cell populations adding on new dimensions to the enteroid model system (Noel et al, 2017; Spalinger et al, 2020; Staab et al, 2020).

## 3. Aim and objectives

To develop a vaccine against *S. vulgaris*, it is essential to understand how the infective stage larvae interacts with its host. To balance possible immunomodulatory capabilities of helminth antigens, it might be necessary to define appropriate adjuvant formulations. The overall aim of this thesis was therefore to set up *ex vivo* models and establish methods to study immune responses against *S. vulgaris* in the horse.

The specific objectives were to:

- Establish methods to generate defined larval stages of S. vulgaris
- Map the cytokine response to these larval stages
- Map the cytokine response to a recombinant protein from *S. vulgaris* (SvSXP)
- Evaluate innate immune responses to the G3 adjuvant
- Establish methods to generate cultures of equine enteroids and enteroid-derived 2D monolayers
- Apply these enteroid models to study host-parasite interactions at the site of infection
- Study how the infective stage of *S. vulgaris* affects the intestinal epithelium in enteroid-derived 2D monolayers, alone or in co-culture with eqPBMC

## 4. Comments on material and methods

This thesis was built upon *ex vivo* experiments using larval cultures and equine primary cells. Here, I will comment on the methods used. For detailed descriptions, I refer to the individual papers I-III.

## 4.1 Blood donor horses

Blood was collected from Swedish warmblood horses (Paper I, n = 12; Paper II, n = 11 and Addendum, n = 10) housed at the Department of Clinical Sciences at SLU or in private stables. These mares and geldings, aged between 5 and 21 years, were regularly vaccinated against tetanus and influenza and regarded as healthy by their owners. Parasite diagnostics for all horses were performed every spring. This included tapeworm and strongyle egg counts (EPG) followed by larval culture or qPCR for detection of *S. vulgaris*. Horses with an EPG >200 and/or confirmed as *S. vulgaris* positive were treated with ivermectin. The blood sampling was approved by the Ethical Committee for Animal Experiments, Uppsala, Sweden (C.214813/14; 5.8.18-15533/2018 and 5.8.18-08784/2020).

## 4.2 Parasite material

Fecal samples collected from private horses with a diagnosed *S. vulgaris* infection were kindly provided from other projects on *S. vulgaris* (Tydén et al, 2019; Hedberg Alm et al, 2020). Since *S. vulgaris* almost always occur in co-infection with cyathostomins, horses with a high proportion of *S. vulgaris* as determined by microscopy or diagnostic qPCR were selected. From these

fecal samples, third stage larvae (L3) were generated by coproculture and collected using the inverted petri-dish method that is routinely used at diagnosing equine strongyles (Van Wyk & Mayhew, 2013). All *S. vulgaris* L3s were identified morphologically according to Bevilaqua et al (1993). In addition, *S. vulgaris* DNA was confirmed by qPCR analysis of samples collected from the same larval batches (National Veterinary Institute, Uppsala, Sweden). To obtain single species samples, *S. vulgaris* L3s were stored in tap water at +4 °C until use. In our hands, the cyathostomin and *S. vulgaris* L3s could be preserved in water for up to 6 and 10 months, respectively, as the L3s at this stage still are covered by their protective L2 cuticle and relying on stored nutrients.

### 4.3 S. vulgaris larval cultures

To study immune reactions to the early larval stages of *S. vulgaris*, a protocol for molting of *S. vulgaris* from L3 to L4 (Chapman et al, 1994) was adopted and slightly modified. Since the L3s were generated from fecal cultures, the larvae were decontaminated by incubation in PBS containing antibiotics, antifungals and the endotoxin-neutralizing agent polymyxin B. Bacterial cultures and endotoxin tests showed no microbial growth and less than 0.70 IU/mL endotoxin after 24 h decontamination. Despite the low level of endotoxin in the L3 preparations, parallel cultures with PBMCs exposed to 1 IU endotoxin/mL were included as controls (paper I).

When indicated, the L2 cuticle was exsheated from the L3s by incubation in sodium hypochlorite (detailed in Paper I). Without its protective L2 cuticle, the exsheated L3s (exL3s) became more fragile and sensitive to the environment and care was taken to ensure that the exL3s were put into culture immediately after exsheatment. The exL3s were cultured in an optimized medium "cKW2" known to trigger L3 development and molting to the L4 stage (Chapman et al, 1994). As noted by Farrar & Klei (1985), the morphology of the late exL3 is almost identical to the early L4, making it difficult to distinguish between the two larval stages before and after molting. However, all larvae molted almost simultaneously at day 5 of culture. The cuticle release progressed over several hours with cuticle casts remaining visible in the culture medium for at least 24 h after shedding. Therefore, molted larvae devoid of their L2 and L3 cuticle are in the present thesis referred to as "*S. vulgaris* L4" according to previous definitions (Farrar & Klei, 1985; Chapman et al, 1994; Monahan et al, 1994). The procedure for generation of L3, exL3 and L4 stages of *S. vulgaris* is illustrated in figure 3.



Figure 3. Scheme for generating different larval stages of *S. vulgaris*. L3 larvae were generated from fecal cultures (**A**) and decontaminated in PBS containing antimicrobials and antimycotics (**B**). Decontaminated L3s were exsheated in hypochlorite to obtain exL3s (**C**). ExL3s were cultured in cKW2 medium to trigger molting to L4 (**D**).

To evaluate the cytokine response to surface antigens on the three larval stages of *S. vulgaris*, a procedure for attenuation by UV irradiation of larvae was set up (Paper I). Due to the limited access to *S. vulgaris* larvae, cyathostomin L3s were initially used to optimize these conditions (time and dose as specified in Paper I) giving intact but non-motile larvae. These conditions were then applied to the *S. vulgaris* L3, exL3 and L4s preparations.

## 4.4 Cultures of equine PBMC

#### 4.4.1 Culture conditions

Cytokine induction by the G3 adjuvant, TLR agonists and attenuated *S. vulgaris* larvae (papers I and II) were studied in cultures of eqPBMCs. In addition, eqPBMCs were used in co-culture experiments with enteroid derived 2D monolayers cultured in transwell inserts (see 4.5.5). Before seeding the eqPBMcs, cell viability was estimated by counting in Trypan blue, and confirmed to be >95 %. Occasional staining with Türks reagent showed a minor contamination with erythrocytes. Cells to be harvested for transcriptional analysis (qPCR) were cultured in 6-well plates at a concentration of 5-10 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL and cells used for protein quantification (ELISA) were cultured in round bottomed 96-well plates at a concentration of 4 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL in agreement with previous studies using eqPBMCs (Wattrang et al, 2005, 2012; Olofsson et al, 2016). The periods of stimulation were 18-20 h and 48 h, respectively.

#### 4.4.2 Cell induction experiments

Based on serial dilutions of the G3 adjuvant (Paper II), a concentration of 5  $\mu$ g G3/mL was used throughout the Thesis and Addendum. To study effects of G3 in combination with other immune stimulatory compounds, the TLR5 agonist FliC and TLR2/1 agonist Pam3CSK4 were chosen. In other animal species, FliC and Pam3CSK4 enhance the immunogenicity of viral, bacterial and protozoan vaccines (Mizel & Bates, 2010; Jayakumar et al, 2011; Caproni et al, 2012). To date, only a few studies are available on effects of FliC and Pam3CSK4 in equine cells (Figueiredo et al, 2009; Leise et al 2010; Irvine et al, 2013; Kwon et al, 2011).

To study immune reactions to strongyle larvae, eqPBMC were exposed to UV attenuated *S. vulgaris* L3, exL3 and L4 as well as to cyathostomin L3s. The polysaccharide chitin, known to be abundant in parasitic nematodes, and suggested to play a key role in recruitment and activation of innate immune cells (Perrigoue et al, 2008), was included as a control (Paper I). 4.4.3 Set up of intracellular cytokine staining and cell surface phenotypic characterization of equine IFN-γ producing cells (Addendum)

Intracellular staining for IFN- $\gamma$  was performed on eqPBMC cultured in the presence of 5 µg G3/mL, 0.5 µg Pam3CSK4/mL or in the combination of G3 and Pam3CSK4. EqPBMC grown in medium alone or in medium with 0.05 µg PMA/mL and 1 µg Ionomycin/mL were used as negative and positive controls, respectively. For each type of culture, approximately 1.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> eqPBMCs/mL were grown in 2 mL RPMI without phenol-red in non-stick tubes at culture conditions previously described (Papers I and II). Initially, the total culture time was varied from 24-48 h and two secretion blockers (Brefeldin A and Monensin) as well as the time for their inclusion was tested. From these experiments the conditions for the final phenotypic characterization of IFN- $\gamma$  producing cells was determined as specified below and the positive control was changed to ConA (2.5 µg/mL) to facilitate the gating procedures.

The cultures were first incubated for 12 h at 37 ° C and thereafter stimulated with 5 µg G3/mL and Pam3CSK4 0.5 µg/mL (G3+Pam), 2.5 µg/mL ConA or in plain growth medium for another 12 h. The secretion blocker Brefeldin A was included the whole stimulation time. After stimulation, the PBMCs were washed in staining buffer consisting of PBS without Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup>, 1 % fetal calf serum (FCS), and 0.09 % sodium azide and stained with LIVE/DEAD Green (fixable dead cell stain kit, Invitrogen) and monoclonal antibodies to equine CD4, CD8 $\alpha$  and CD8 $\beta$  (Table 1). Fixation and intracellular staining for equine IFN- $\gamma$  (Table 1) were subsequently performed using the BD Cytofix/Cytoperm Plus Fixation/Permeabilization Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Flow cytometry was performed using a BD FACSVerse<sup>™</sup> (BD Biosciences), equipped with 488 nm blue, 633 nm red and 405 nm violet lasers and results were analyzed using the FACSDiva (BD Biosciences) software. Single-stained compensation controls and fluorescence minus one (FMO) negative controls were included in the assays. Samples were recorded for 5 min at a low flow rate. Titrations of all antibodies were performed to determine optimal labelling conditions prior to the experiment.

Antibody	Clone	Specificity	Fluorochrome	Company
CD4-PECy7	HB61A	Equine CD4	R-phycoerythrin- cyanine 7 <sup>a</sup>	Kingfisher Biotech
CD8a-RPE	CVS21	$\alpha$ -chain of equine CD8	R-phycoerythrin <sup>b</sup>	BioRad
CD8β- PerCPCy5.5	HT14A	β-chain of equine CD8	Peridinin chlorophyll- cyanine 5.5 <sup>b</sup>	Kingfisher Biotech
IFN-7-PF647P	MT116	Equine IFN-γ	PromoFluor-647P <sup>b</sup>	Mabtech

Table 1. Fluourchrome conjugated antibodies for phenotypic identification of equine  $IFN-\gamma$  producing cells

<sup>a</sup> Fluorochrome conjugated using Lightning-Link® conjugation kits (Abcam) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

<sup>b</sup> Fluorochrome conjugated by manufacturer.

#### 4.4.4 SvSXP

A recombinant S. vulgaris protein SvSXP expressed in E. coli was kindly provided by Assoc Prof Martin Nielsen at Gluck Equine Research Center, University of Kentucky, USA. Before use, the SvSXP protein was purified from endotoxin using Pierce high capacity endotoxin removal resin and measured using the Pierce LAL chromogenic endotoxin quantification kit (Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instruction. The purified SvSXP protein was thereafter used as re-call antigen in cultures of eqPBMC obtained from horses with a known history of previous exposure to S. vulgaris and in equine enteroid cultures. Various concentrations of recombinant SvSXP were co-cultured with eqPBMC in 6-well plates at the same conditions as described in Paper I and II. The cytokine inducing concentration of SvSXP was tested in four separate experiments using either 0.25, 0.5 and 0.75 µg SvSXP/mL or 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 µg SvSXP/mL. The horses were categorized based on their records for the last four years regarding parasite burden (EPG and S. vulgaris detection as described in 4.1) provided by the horse owners. The "low exposure" group includes horses (n = 3) with only negative test results for *S. vulgaris*, the "previous confirmed" group includes horses (n = 5) previously tested positive one or multiple times but negative for S. vulgaris at the time of blood sampling, and the "confirmed" group includes horses (n = 3) positive for S. vulgaris at the time of sampling.

After 20 h exposure to SvSXP in PBMC obtained from horses in the various groups, the eqPBMC were analyzed for their expression of cytokine genes (IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17A, IL-33 and TSLP) using methods described in paper I and II. This data set is far from complete, but preliminary results are given in Addendum (5.3.2) and referred to in the Discussion.

### 4.5 Enteroids

#### 4.5.1 Generation and culture of equine enteroids

Equine enteroids were generated from crypts isolated from equine midjejunum (Figure 4). To avoid excessive cell death, tissue sections were immediately put in ice-cold PBS containing antimicrobials, antifungals and an apoptosis blocker (Rho kinase inhibitor Y27632) and processed within one hour of collection. Isolation of crypts and the subsequent culture were performed in accordance with a previously published protocol for equine enteroids (Steiler Stewart et al, 2018).

To enable three-dimensional growth, the crypts were cultured in Matrigel, which is a medium generated from mouse sarcoma cells containing extracellular matrix components such as laminin, collagen type IV, entactin/nidogen and heparin sulfate proteoglycans as well as a variety of growth factors (Kleinman et al, 1986; Kleinman & Martin, 2005). In the equine enteroids however, a Matrigel with low concentrations of growth factors (GFR membrane matrix, Corning) was used to generate a more defined culture medium. The growth factors included in the equine enteroid medium were Wnt3a, R-spondin, Noggin, EGF and CHIR99021 that stimulates the Wnt signaling pathway essential for cell proliferation and differentiation of intestinal epithelial cells. In addition, the Rho kinase inhibitor Y-27632 prevents anoikis induced cell death, the p38 inhibitor SB202190 prevents apoptosis as well as enhance proliferation and differentiation, and the TGF-B receptor I inhibitor LY2157299 reduce apoptosis and promotes stem cell survival (Merker et al, 2016). Together, these factors support initiation, propagation and long-term maintenance of enteroid cultures.



Figure 4. Equine enteroid after seven days of culture.

## 4.5.2 Establishment of enteroid-derived 2D monolayer cultures

To enable easy access to the apical surface of the epithelium, a protocol for two-dimensional cultures of porcine enteroids was adapted (van der Hee et al, 2018). To prevent detachment-induced anoikis, the wash medium was supplemented with Y-27632. The cell viability after washing was between 60-90 % in the different experiments, estimated by Trypan blue staining. The 2D monolayers were cultured on 24-well flat-bottomed culture plates or on 12-well transwell inserts. To facilitate cell attachment and monolayer growth, plates and inserts were pre-coated with Matrigel as previously elaborated in several studies (e.g. Liu et al, 2018; van der Hee et al, 2018; Altay et al, 2019).

The transwell culture system is built up by an upper and lower compartment separated by a permeable membrane for culture of epithelial monolayers (Figure 5b). In the following text I will refer to the upper compartment as the "apical surface" and the lower compartment as the "basolateral surface". In these cultures, transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) was monitored as a measurement of the barrier integrity.

#### 4.5.3 Exposure of enteroid monolayers to microbial mimics

The same TLR-agonists used to stimulate eqPBMC (Paper II) were used to assess the functionality of the equine 2D monolayers (Paper III). The TLR agonists used were a recombinant flagellin protein from *Salmonella Typhimurium*, FliC (TLR5), lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from *E. coli* O111:B4 (TLR4), the synthetic lipopeptide Pam3CSK4 that mimics the acetylated aminoterminus of bacterial lipopeptides (TLR2/1) and Poly I:C, a double stranded RNA analogue (TLR3) mimicking viral infections. Together, these TLR agonists represent an array of microorganisms supposed to trigger immune-regulatory reactions in the intestinal epithelia (Andrews et al, 2018) and were thus considered appropriate to test the responsiveness of the equine monolayers.

## 4.5.4 Exposure of enteroid monolayers to *S. vulgaris* in the presence of Th polarizing cytokines

To study interactions of *S. vulgaris* with the intestinal epithelium under the influence of Th polarizing cytokines, the basolateral surface of enteroid monolayers cultured on transwell inserts were exposed to IL-4 and IL-13 or IFN- $\gamma$  (equine yeast-derived recombinant proteins, Kingfisher Biotech, Inc). After 72 h, approximately 20 living exsheated *S. vulgaris* L3 larvae were added to the apical surface of each well and incubated for another 20 h (Figure 5c). As controls, *S. vulgaris* were added to the apical surface of exposed to cytokines and enteroid monolayers were exposed to cytokines but not *S. vulgaris*. In parallel, monolayers cultured in plain growth medium were included as controls. All experimental treatments were performed in triplicates and pooled at harvest. The methods used for transwell culture, cell harvest, RNA isolation, cDNA synthesis and transcriptional analysis of cell lineage markers were performed as detailed in paper III. Preliminary results from this experiment are given in Addendum (5.6) and referred to in the Discussion.

## 4.5.5 Exposure of enteroid monolayers to *S. vulgaris* in co-culture with eqPBMC

To further expand the equine enteroid 2D model, a co-culture system of enteroid monolayers and eqPBMC was set up using transwell inserts (Figure 5d). Cultures of eqPBMC were established using previously described methods (Papers I and II) and incubated overnight in the presence of 5 µg/mL G3, 2  $\mu$ g/mL SvSXP or in plain growth medium. Approximately 2 x 10<sup>6</sup> PBMCs were transferred to the basolateral surface of confluent enteroid monolayers. These co-cultures were thereafter challenged with approximately 20 living exsheated S. vulgaris L3s per well, added to the apical surface of the enteroid monolayer. After 20 h incubation the enteroid monolayers and the eqPBMCs were harvested separately and processed for transcriptional analysis of cytokine genes performed as described in papers I, II and III. In addition, TEER was measured (described in Paper I) in enteroid monolayers after 20 h exposure to S. vulgaris exL3 or G3. Preliminary results are given in Addendum (5.6) and referred to in the Discussion. Α



Figure 5. Scheme for enteroid monolayer experiments. Equine enteroids (A) were dissociated to single cells and cultured as monolayers on transwell inserts (B). *S. vulgaris* exL3s were added to the apical surface of enteroid monolayers cultured in the presence of Th polarizing cytokines at the basolateral surface (C) or in co-culture with eqPBMC (D).

## 4.6 Gene expression analysis

#### 4.6.1 RNA isolation and quality control

RNA from the PBMC and enteroid cultures was extracted using a combination of the Trizol reagent and the column-based E.Z.N.A Total RNA Kit as previously described by Wikström et al (2011). By using spin columns, the risk of Trizol contamination is reduced which can otherwise impact RNA quantification on spectrophotometers and interfere with the subsequent cDNA synthesis. However, for some of the samples with low RNA yield, the 260/280 ratios, measured by a Nanodrop spectrophotometer, were below the recommended interval of 1.8-2.0, indicating the presence of contaminants. Despite this, cDNA was successfully synthesized from these samples, and showed no discrepancy in the expression of reference genes. In addition, the quality of the RNA was estimated in a selection of eqPBMC samples (Paper I and II) using capillary gel electrophoresis (Experion). All samples tested had an RNA quality index (RQI)  $\geq$ 9.3 indicating intact RNA of good quality.

#### 4.6.2 Synthesis of cDNA

To control for genomic DNA contamination, all samples were DNAse treated prior to cDNA synthesis. To confirm removal of genomic DNA, an assay targeting a product lacking introns was performed on non-reverse transcribed control samples as previously described (Hjertner et al, 2013). The cDNA synthesis was performed using the GoScript Reverse transcription system kit using 1.0  $\mu$ g RNA per reaction (Paper I). For samples with a lower yield, a smaller amount of RNA, between 0.4-1.0  $\mu$ g, was used (Paper II). Regardless, equal amounts of RNA were used within each individual horse to facilitate comparisons between treatments.

### 4.6.3 Assays for qPCR

Primer pairs for a panel of equine cytokines, representing Th1, Th2, Th17, Treg and Th9 responses, and TLR receptors were used to assess immune reactions to experimental treatments in eqPBMCs and enteroid-derived 2D monolayers. A gradient qPCR was run to estimate the optimal assay-specific annealing temperature and primer concentration for each assay. The assay-specific efficiency was thereafter estimated by running a serial dilution of

reference cDNA. For assays targeting pro-inflammatory cytokines and TLR receptors, the reference cDNA was PMA/Ionomycin stimulated eqPBMC. For assays targeting interferons, a reference cDNA made from eqPBMC stimulated with ODN2216 was used. The cut-off for an acceptable assay was set to >90 < 105 % efficiency and  $r^{2} > 0.9$ .

The enteroids and enteroid-derived 2D monolayers were characterized by their expression of cell lineage markers. A panel of primer pairs for LGR5 (stem cells), SOX9 (stem and progenitor cells), PCNA (proliferative cells), EPCAM (epithelial cells), LYZ (paneth cells), CGA (enteroendocrine cells), MUC2 (goblet cells) and DCLK1 (tuft cells) were tested and optimized for their assay specific annealing temperature and primer concentration using qPCR. By running serial dilutions of reference cDNA made from sections of equine intestinal segments (Hjertner et al, 2013), all assays except LGR5 and DCLK1 were optimized with an efficiency >90 % and  $r^2$ >0.9. The LGR5 gene is exclusively expressed by intestinal stem cells and is therefore an important marker for characterization of enteroids (Sato et al, 2009). However, the basal LGR5 expression in the equine enteroids as well as in the reference cDNA was very low, hindering efficiency estimations by serial dilution. The tuft cell marker DCLK1 was also expressed at low levels in both enteroids and reference cDNA, complicating efficiency estimations. Therefore, annealing temperature and primer concentration for DCLK1 were determined by gradient qPCR analysis only.

#### 4.6.4 Normalization of gene expression

To enable normalization of the gene expression data, a variety of reference genes were evaluated for their expression stability (geNorm software, qBase<sup>PLUS</sup>) using a representative collection of samples from eqPBMC and equine enteroids. Ranked by a gene stability parameter and a coefficient of variation, RPL32 and SDHA were selected for normalization of eqPBMC samples whereas GAPDH, HPRT and SDHA were selected for normalization of enteroid material. This corresponds with previous data on the equine intestine, where the same set of reference genes were identified as most stably expressed in the equine jejunum (Hjertner et al, 2013).

## 5. Results

# 5.1 Cytokine responses to different larval stages of *S. vulgaris* (Paper I)

At invasion of the intestinal mucosa and during migration in the mesenteric arterial system, the *S. vulgaris* larvae undergo several molts. To study how these different larval stages influence the cytokine response at an early phase of infection, methods for generating defined larval stages of *S. vulgaris* were established and the preparations tested in cultures of eqPBMC (Paper I). Procedures for decontamination, culture and attenuation by UV-irradiation were elaborated using L3 stage larvae of the related species cyathostomins and thereafter applied to *S. vulgaris*.

When tested in cultures of eqPBMC, L3s from both cyathostomins and *S. vulgaris* induced gene expression for the Th2 polarizing cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 but not for IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-12p40, IL-17A, IL-23p19 or TGF- $\beta$ . Molting of *S. vulgaris* from the L3 to L4 stage did not affect the expression of IL-4 and IL-13 but was accompanied by a shift to high expression of IL-5, IL-9 and TSLP. Unexpectedly, the L4s also induced high levels of IFN- $\gamma$  indicating a shift from a Th2 to Th1 response (Figure 6). Thus, the L4 stage appears to induce a different cytokine profile compared to earlier larval stages.



Figure 6. Relative expression of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-13 and TSLP in eqPBMC after exposure to defined larval stages of *S. vulgaris*. The eqPBMCs were cultured in the presence of UV irradiated L3, exsheated L3 or L4 of *S. vulgaris* followed by transcriptional analysis of cytokine genes. The figure is adapted from Paper I.

## 5.2 Cytokine responses to the G3 adjuvant (Paper I, II)

The immune stimulatory capacity of the G3 adjuvant was studied in cultures of eqPBMC (Paper II). Transcriptional analysis of cytokine genes showed that G3 alone induces a response mainly characterized by up-regulation of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8 and the Th1-associated cytokines IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-12p40 and IL-23p19. The Th2 associated cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 as well as the Treg cytokines IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  were in general not differentially expressed (Paper II). This immune profile, summarized in Figure 7 is coherent with the results found in Paper I, where eqPBMC were stimulated with 5  $\mu$ g G3/mL, alone or in combination with strongyle larvae.



Figure 7. The cytokine profile induced by the G3 adjuvant  $(5\mu g/mL)$  in cultures of eqPBMC. The figure shows gene expression data summarized from Paper I and II.

# 5.3 Cytokine responses to the G3 adjuvant in combination with TLR-agonists or strongyle larvae (Paper I, II)

Effects of G3 on the cytokine response to microbial PAMPs was studied in eqPBMC exposed to G3 in combination with TLR-ligands (Paper II) or UV-attenuated *S. vulgaris* or cyathostomin L3s (Paper I). Both the TLR2/1 and TLR5 agonists Pam3CSK4 and FliC, respectively, induced similar cytokine

profiles with up-regulation of the genes encoding IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8 and IL-10, but at different magnitudes. This response was partly counteracted by the G3 adjuvant, most evidently by reducing the FliC and Pam3CSK4 induced production of IL-10 (Fig. 4, Paper II). Interestingly, G3 seemed to act in synergy with Pam3CSK4 by enhancing the production of IFN- $\gamma$  whereas G3 combined with FliC increased the gene expression of IL-8 (Fig 3, Paper II). In agreement, the Th2 polarizing effect by *S. vulgaris* and cyathostomin L3s, was counteracted by the G3 adjuvant that reduced the expression of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-10 while in parallel enhanced the expression of IFN- $\gamma$  (Fig. 4, Paper I). Thus, the G3 adjuvant appears to promote a Th1 polarizing immune response in eqPBMC, both by favouring IFN- $\gamma$  production and by reducing production of IL-10 induced by co-delivered TLR agonists or UV-attenuated strongyle larvae.

## 5.3.1 Phenotypic characterization of IFN-γ producing cells (Addendum)

Both the original ISCOM formulation and the ISCOM-Matrix have been shown to induce IFN- $\gamma$  producing cells in horses vaccinated against equine influenza virus (Paillot et al, 2008; Paillot & Prowse, 2012). Therefore, attempts were made to characterize the cells that produced IFN- $\gamma$  in response to the G3 adjuvant and/or Pam3CSK4 explaining the indicated synergy effect (Fig.4, Paper II). As expected, a great individual variation was observed between horses in their response to PMA/Ionomycin (ranging from 10.6 to 37.7 % IFN- $\gamma$ + cells, n = 8). All horses showed a low, but varied spontaneous IFN- $\gamma$  production (0.14 ± 0.11 % IFN- $\gamma$ + cells, n = 8). The proportion of cells detected as IFN- $\gamma$  positive also varied within groups after incubation in G3 (0.27± 0.18%, n=8), Pam3CSK4 (0.54 ± 0.38 %, n = 7) or the combination of G3 and Pam3CSK4 (0.72 ± 0.41 %, n= 8). Thus, this preliminary data do not support any synergistic effect between G3 and Pam3CSK4. Instead, it appears that G3 and Pam3CSK4 initiates IFN- $\gamma$  production in two different or partly overlapping cell populations.

In order to further characterize the cells producing IFN- $\gamma$  in response to the combination of G3 + Pam3CSK4, a panel of antibodies detecting equine CD4, CD8 $\alpha$ , CD8 $\beta$  and intracellular production of IFN- $\gamma$  were tested using multicolor flow cytometry (Figure 8). As controls, eqPBMC cultured in plain growth medium or stimulated with ConA were used. Preliminary results

from one blood donor horse show that CD4, CD8α and CD8β are expressed at similar levels in ConA, G3+Pam3CSK4 and non-stimulated cells (Figure 8F). Stimulation with ConA increased the fraction of IFN- $\gamma$  producing cells from 0.02 % in the medium control to 2.94 % in ConA stimulated cells (Figure 8G-H). A large proportion these (~66 %) were CD4+ cells (Figure 8L). Exposure to G3+Pam3CSK4 resulted in a slight increase (0.17 %) in IFN- $\gamma$  producing cells compared to the medium control (Figure 8I). In contrast to ConA, a large proportion (~ 65 %) of the G3+Pam3CSK4 stimulated cells were CD4-, CD8a- and CD8B negative. In addition, the fraction of cells positive for CD8a but negative for CD4 and CD8B (thus, classified as CD8aa) was larger in G3 + Pam3CSK4 (10%) compared to ConA stimulated cells (2 %; Figure 8L). Thus, from these preliminary data it appears as a large proportion of the cells that produce IFN- $\gamma$  in response to G3 + Pam3CSK4 are negative for CD4, CD8 $\alpha$  and CD8 $\beta$  indicating that other cell types than T cells are predominantly activated by this adjuvant combination. However, additional experiments are needed to characterize these cells.

Figure 8 (figure on next page). Gating strategy for flow cytometry and results from phenotypic identification of IFN-y producing eqPBMC from one healthy blood donor horse after 12 h stimulation in cell culture. Identification of CD4+, CD8 $\alpha\beta$ + and CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ + cells, respectively, on these cells through FSC/SSC characteristics, singlet gating and using CD4-PE/Cy7, CD8β-PerCp/Cy5.5, CD8α-PE and IFN-γ-PF647P. From the gate excluding debris in initial dot-plot in A gating through FSC-H vs FSC-A was performed in **B** to exclude large aggregates. From this gate, live cells were gated through exclusion of events stained with Green dead stain in C. From the live gate CD86+ cells (i.e.  $CD8\alpha\beta+$ ) were identified in **D**. Subsequently CD4+ and  $CD8\alpha+$  (i.e.  $CD8\alpha\alpha+$ ) cells were identified from the CD8β- cells in **E**. **F** shows results phenotyping the whole live cell population in PBMC cultures in plain growth medium or in medium with the indicated inducers. G, H and I shows gating of IFN- $\gamma$ + cells from the whole live PBMC population in cultures in plain growth medium in G, stimulated with ConA in H and Stimulated with G3+Pam in I. The proportion of IFN- $\gamma$ + out of the whole live cell population is indicated in the respective dot-plot. From the live IFN- $\gamma$  gate CD8 $\beta$ + cells (i.e. CD8 $\alpha\beta$ +) were identified in J. Subsequently CD4+ and CD8a+ cells were identified from the CD8βcells in K. L shows results phenotyping the live IFN- $\gamma$ + cells in cultures stimulated with the indicated inducers (in medium cultures fewer than 100 IFN- $\gamma$ + events were identified





#### 5.3.2 Cytokine responses to SvSXP (Addendum)

The cytokine response to the recombinant SvSXP protein was studied in cultures of PBMC isolated from horses with an ongoing or known history of *S. vulgaris* infection (description in 4.4.4). The eqPBMCs were stimulated with 0.25, 0.5 and 0.75 µg SvSXP/mL or 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 µg SvSXP/mL for 20 h followed by transcriptional analysis of cytokine genes. Preliminary data, from a yet incomplete set of horses, indicate that the SvSXP protein induce expression of the genes encoding IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2 and IL-17A in eqPBMC from horses in all three groups of horses (Figure 9A-C). Expression of IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-2, but not IL-17A, appeared to be induced in a dose-dependent manner. With this limited data set, it was not possible to estimate differences in the cytokine expression between the three groups. The genes for IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-4, IL-8, IL-10, IL-33, TNF- $\alpha$  and TSLP were not differentially expressed whereas the genes encoding IL-5 and IL-9 were occasionally slightly up-regulated.



Figure 9. Relative expression of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2 and IL-17A in eqPBMC. The PBMCs were isolated from horses with an ongoing *S. vulgaris* infection (i.e. "confirmed *S. vulgaris*", indicated by red circles, n = 3), a previous record of *S. vulgaris* infection (i.e. "previous confirmed *S. vulgaris*", indicated by orange circles, n =5) or no previous record of *S. vulgaris* infection (i.e. "low exposure", indicated by green circles, n = 3). The eqPBMCs were cultured in the presence of either 0.25, 0.5 and 0.75 µg SvSXP/mL or 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 µg



# 5.4 Generation of equine enteroids and enteroid-derived 2D monolayers (Paper III)

Equine enteroid cultures were established from crypts isolated from equine mid-jejunum (Paper III). The enteroid cultures could be passaged, frozen and thawed multiple times with >80 % recovery. To enable easy access to the apical surface of the epithelium, the enteroids were dissociated into single cells and seeded on transwell inserts or on standard flat-bottom culture plates pre-coated with Matrigel. At a seeding concentration of  $4-5 \ge 10^4 \text{ cells/cm}^2$ , more than 90 % confluence was reached after three days culture. The monolayers remained intact for up to 8 days on the flat-bottomed culture plates and up to 13 days on the transwell inserts. TEER analysis of the transwell cultures showed that the monolayer integrity was stabilised after one week of culture and remained so for another week, with average TEER values of  $860\pm160 \ \Omega$  per cm<sup>2</sup>. Transcriptional analysis of cell lineage markers confirmed the presence of epithelial cells, stem cells, Paneth cells, proliferative cells, enteroendochrine cells, goblet cells and tuft cells in both enteriods and enteroid-derived 2D monolayers. However, the transfer from 3D enteroids to 2D monolayers slightly modified the relative expression levels of these markers, possibly indicating a decrease of goblet- and paneth cells in the monolayers. Furthermore, both enteroids and monolayers expressed the genes encoding TLR2 and TLR5, but not TLR4.

## 5.5 Cytokine responses to TLR-agonists in enteroidderived 2D monolayers

To assess the responsiveness of the enteroid-derived 2D monolayers to microbial stimuli, monolayers were exposed to the TLR agonists Pam3CSK4 (TLR2/1), Poly I:C (TLR3), LPS (TLR4) or FliC (TLR5) for 20 h followed by transcriptional analysis of cytokine genes (Paper III). No morphological changes were observed after exposure to Pam3CSK4, LPS or FliC. However, exposure to the TLR3 agonist poly I:C resulted in disruption of the monolayer with a high number of floating cells in the culture medium. In accordance, poly I:C was the only TLR agonist that induced gene expression of the alarmins TGF- $\beta$  and IL-33. In addition, poly I:C induced high levels

of IFN- $\beta$  mRNA as well as the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-8. Induction of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-8 was also recorded in the monolayers exposed to Pam3CSK4 and LPS whereas monolayers exposed to FliC only upregulated TNF- $\alpha$ . (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Cytokine responses to TLR-agonists in equine enteroid-derived monolayers. Both Pam3CSK4 (TLR2/1) and LPS (TLR4) induced gene expression of IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$ , while FliC (TLR5) only induced TNF- $\alpha$ . Exposure to poly I:C resulted in upregulation of IFN- $\beta$ , IL-8, IL-33, TNF- $\alpha$  and TGF- $\beta$ . The illustration is adapted from Paper III.

# 5.6 Exposure of enteroid monolayers to *S. vulgaris* in the presence of Th polarizing cytokines (Addendum)

To study interactions of S. vulgaris larvae with the intestinal epithelium, exsheated S. vulgaris L3s were added to the apical surface of enteroid monolayers cultured on transwell membranes in plain growth medium or pre-exposed to the Th1 polarizing cytokine IFN-y or the Th2 polarizing cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 on the basolateral surface. After 20 h exposure to S. vulgaris exL3s, the enteroid monolayers were analyzed for their expression of cell lineage markers. The enteroid monolayers cultured in the presence of IL-4 and IL-13 slightly up-regulated the goblet- and tuft cell markers MUC2 and DCLK1, respectively. Apical exposure to S. vulgaris exL3s further up-regulated MUC2 and DCLK1 in IL-4 and IL-13 primed monolayers. In contrast, exposure to S. vulgaris exL3s on monolayers cultured in the absence of IL-4 and IL-13 did not seem to affect the expression of MUC2 or DCLK1. Furthermore, culture of monolayers in the presence of IFN- $\gamma$  appeared to increase the expression of the Paneth cell marker LYZ (Figure 11). Thus, these preliminary data indicate that the equine enteroid-derived monolayers are responsive to the cytokine milieu created at the basolateral surface, affecting the cellular composition and the response to stimuli at the apical surface.



expression of cell lineage markers for goblet cells (MUC2), tuft cells (DCLK1) and Paneth cells (LYZ) in transwell cultures of equine enteroid-derived 2D monolayers basolaterally primed with IFN-y or IL-4 and IL-13 after 20h apical exposure to S. vulgaris exL3s The gene expression was normalized to the geometric mean for the reference genes (GAPDH, SDHA and HPRT) and calibrated to that in the medium control.

Figure 11. Relative gene

## 5.7 Exposure of enteroid monolayers to *S. vulgaris* at coculture with eqPBMC

To study interactions between the intestinal epithelium and immune cells at S. vulgaris infection, a co-culture model was developed from equine enteroid-derived 2D monolayers and eqPBMCs (Figure 5D). Enteroid monolayers were cultured on transwell membranes in connection with eqPBMCs cultured in the basolateral compartment and exposed to S. vulgaris exL3s on the apical surface of the monolayer. After 20 h S. vulgaris exposure, transcriptional analysis of cytokine genes was conducted in the enteroid monolayers and in the eqPBMCs. The preliminary results show that the only gene induced in the monolayers by S. vulgaris exposure was IL-8. The genes encoding IL-5, IL-33 and TGF- $\beta$  were not differentially expressed while expression of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4 and IL-13 were undetectable in the monolayers. In the eqPBMCs, an up-regulation of the gene encoding IL-5 was recorded while the other cytokine genes tested (IFN-y, IL-1β, IL-4, IL-5, IL-8, IL-10, IL-13 IL-17A and TGF-β) were not differentially expressed (Figure 12). Furthermore, the genes encoding IL-9, TNF- $\alpha$  and TSLP were occasionally detected in both monolayer and eqPBMC cultures but with very high Cq values complicating fold change calculations.



Figure 12. Relative expression of cytokine genes in co-cultures of enteroid monolayers and eqPBMCs challenged with *S. vulgaris* exL3s. The gene expression was normalized to the geometric mean for the reference genes (GAPDH, SDHA and HPRT) and calibrated to that in the medium control.

To test the effect of the G3 adjuvant or SvSXP protein in the co-culture system, eqPBMCs were primed with 5  $\mu$ g/mL G3 or 2  $\mu$ g/mL SvSXP for 18 h prior to the co-culture experiment. In G3-primed eqPBMCs, the upregulation of IL-5 appeared to be higher compared to that in SvSXP-primed and non-primed eqPBMCs after apical exposure to *S. vulgaris* exL3s (Figure 13a). In the enteroid monolayers in co-culture with G3-primed or non-primed eqPBMCs, a slight up-regulation of the gene encoding IL-8 was indicated after exposure to *S. vulgaris* exL3s (Figure 13b). Furthermore, TEER analysis indicate that neither the *S. vulgaris* exL3s nor the G3 adjuvant affected the monolayer integrity during this 20 h incubation (Figure 14). However, additional experiments are needed to confirm these results.



Figure 13. The relative expression of IL-5 (**A**) and IL-8 (**B**) in co-cultures of enteroid monolayers and eqPBMC after apical exposure to *S. vulgaris* exL3s. Non-exposed monolayers are indicated as "medium".



Figure 14. Transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) in equine enteroid-derived monolayers in co-culture with non-primed eqPBMCs or eqPBMCs primed with 5  $\mu$ g/mL G3 or basolaterally exposed to 5 $\mu$ g G3/mL. The co-cultures were apically exposed *S. vulgaris* exL3s and TEER was measured after 20 h incubation. The results are given as mean values  $\pm$  SD for three technical replicates.

## 6. Discussion

Concerns about antimicrobial resistance combined with an increased prevalence of S. vulgaris reported in Sweden motivates development of new prophylactic tools to control this parasite. Initial immunization studies using orally administrated irradiated S. vulgaris L3 demonstrated that a protective immunity against S. vulgaris can be achieved by vaccination (Klei, 2000). Acquiring large amounts of live helminths is however impractical and ethically problematic as it would require the maintenance of experimentally infected "donor" horses. A more feasible option would therefore be a subunit vaccine based on recombinant S. vulgaris proteins. Such a vaccine requires identification of relevant vaccine antigens as well as an appropriate adjuvant that can increase and prolong the immunogenicity of the vaccine. To do this, we need a better understanding of the protective mechanisms against S. vulgaris. The initial studies on S. vulgaris performed in Kentucky indicate that immune protection is correlated with Th2 cytokines such as IL-5 and production of antibodies, predominantly IgG(T), that are recognizing the early larval stages of S. vulgaris. It is widely acknowledged that Th2 responses are necessary for immune protection against most helminth species, although this dogma was recently challenged by Perera & Ndao (2021). Assembled data in this review suggest that for some helminth species Th1-driven mechanisms may be important to combat juvenile larvae at initial infection while Th2-driven mechanisms are necessary for expulsion of adult worms. Regardless, the intrinsic ability of helminths to manipulate the host's immune response needs to be defined and potentially counteracted to achieve immune protection. It is therefore essential to understand the biology of the host-parasite relationship during S. vulgaris infection.

Research into helminths and immunology has traditionally relied on the use of animals. While studies in large animals is expensive and demand plenty of resources, murine models are cheaper and easier to manage. However, the murine models cannot always fully recapitulate immune responses in out-bred large animal species (Guzman & Montoya, 2018; Bush et al, 2020). Adding the fact that most helminths are host-specific motivates development of *ex vivo* systems based on cells or tissues isolated from the target species. Naturally, *ex vivo* models cannot replace the complexity of a living organism but they can be useful as an initial screening tool to build theories that later can be tested and confirmed in the living animal. In this thesis, I have used cultures of eqPBMC and equine enteroids to model both systemic and local reactions to infective stage *S. vulgaris* larvae. In addition, the immunomodulatory capacity of the novel adjuvant G3 together with *S. vulgaris* preparations was evaluated.

There is currently an incomplete knowledge of the host-parasite interactions and immune mechanisms conferring protection to S. vulgaris. Considering its complex life cycle comprising several larval molts, S. vulgaris likely express a plethora of antigenic components at each larval stage. To study how different larval stages of S. vulgaris influence the immune response, eqPBMC were cultured in the presence of UV-attenuated L3s, exsheated L3s (exL3s) or L4s. Transcriptional analysis of cytokine genes indicate that the L3 and exL3 stage induce a typical helminth associated Th2 response characterized by up-regulation of IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-13 and TSLP. Although the L4s also induced these cytokines, this stage appear to skew the Th2 profile by inducing the Th1 polarizing cytokine IFN- $\gamma$ . As the L4 is the life cycle stage when S. vulgaris first encounter peripheral blood, this observation may be important to understand the initial response to this parasite. While development of Th2 responses is considered essential for immune protection against helminths, Th1 responses have been associated with establishment of chronic infections. Studies in mice demonstrate that primary infection with T. muris induce a pro-inflammatory response with production of Th1 cytokines, such as IL-12 and IFN-y, inhibiting activation of protective Th2 responses (e.g. Else et al, 1992; Bancroft et al, 1994; Humphreys et al, 2004). In addition, the murine GI nematode *H. polygyrus* was shown to induce IL-1β early during infection inhibiting expression of IL-25 and IL-33 allowing establishment of chronic infection (Zaiss et al, 2013). Thus, these murine studies indicate that helminth antigens can alter polarization of the Th profile by induction of proinflammatory and Th1 polarizing cytokines to promote establishment in the host. It is therefore tempting to speculate that the IFN- $\gamma$  induction by *S. vulgaris* L4, observed in the present study, contributes to *S. vulgaris* establishment in the equine host. Reports from other helminth species that also spend parts of their life cycle in peripheral blood, such as *Fasciola hepatica*, *Schistosoma mansoni*, *Brugia malayi* and *Trichinella spiralis*, indicate that a mixed Th1/Th2 response is necessary for immune protection (reviewed by Perera & Ndao, 2021). Indisputable, further studies are necessary to scrutinize the role of IFN- $\gamma$  during the initial response to *S. vulgaris*.

Interestingly, the preliminary results indicate that the recombinant *S. vulgaris* SXP protein (SvSXP) protein also induce gene expression of IFN- $\gamma$  as well as IL-17A and IL-2 in eqPBMC. The SvSXP protein was identified using migratory larvae at the L5 stage (Andersen et al, 2013b) and its expression by earlier stages remains to be confirmed. However, other SXP/RAL-2 proteins homologous to SvSXP have been localized to the worm intestine, hypodermis, cuticle and excretory glands as well as found among ES-products (Tsuji et al, 2001; Caballero et al, 2008), suggesting that SvSXP may be an excretory protein. Several proteins from the SXP/RAL-2 family have besides being studied as vaccine antigens or diagnostic markers also been identified as allergens in humans (García-Mayoral et al, 2014; Ahumada et al, 2020). A potential allergenic activity of some SXP/RAL-2 proteins might complicate their use as vaccine antigens and further stress the importance of inducing a balanced Th1/Th2 response to the antigen.

Many of the keys to designing an effective vaccine against *S. vulgaris* are likely to be found by studying its life cycle. During the early phase of infection, the *S. vulgaris* L3s and early L4s reside in the intestinal mucosa before beginning the migratory route through the mesenteric arterial system. A vaccine against *S. vulgaris* should optimally target these early larval stages to stop migration into the small blood vessels of the intestinal mucosa. To get a better understanding how *S. vulgaris* interacts with its equine host, it is therefore essential to study reactions to *S. vulgaris* also at the site of entry. For that purpose, equine enteroid cultures were generated from adult stem
cells isolated from equine jejunum. To allow S. vulgaris interaction studies with enteroid cells, 2D monolayer cultures were established from the equine enteroids. Both the enteroids and the enteroid-derived 2D monolayers contained cell lineages normally found in the equine small intestine (Gonzalez et al, 2015), such as intestinal stem cells, progenitor cells, Paneth cells, enteroendocrine cells and goblet cells. In addition, tuft cells were detected using doublecortin-like kinase 1 (DCLK1) which is a commonly used marker to identify tuft cells. In the healthy intestine, DCLK1 is uniquely expressed by a majority of tuft cells (Gerbe et al, 2009; Middelhoff et al, 2017) but can also be selectively expressed by several kinds of cancer stem cells (Cao et al, 2020). Although, the role of tuft cells in the equine intestine remains to be elucidated, expression of DCKL1 was recently confirmed in different sections of the equine intestine by transcriptome analysis (Coleman et al, 2020). Recent studies in mice demonstrate that intestinal tuft cells play an important role in the defense against helminths. Tuft cells are an important source of IL-25 that drives the tuft-ILC2s signaling feedback loop in which ILC2s are activated to produce Th2 cytokines, such as IL-5, IL-9 and IL-13. The presence of IL-13 skews the differentiation pattern of the epithelium towards goblet- and tuft cells resulting in a rapid increase of these cell types during helminth infection (Schneider et al, 2019). In the horse, goblet cell hyperplasia has been described in horses with cyathostomin infection showing that expression of MUC2 and IL-13 in the large intestine and peripheral blood, respectively, can be correlated to worm burdens (Steuer et al, 2020). In the present thesis, increased expression of MUC2 and DCLK1 was indicated in enteroid-derived 2D monolayers after basolateral exposure to IL-4 and IL-13. Apical challenge with S. vulgaris exL3 on monolayers primed with IL-4/IL-13 further increased the expression of these cell lineage markers indicating that helminth-induced goblet- and tuft cell hyperplasia can be replicated in the present ex vivo model.

It is well established that the interplay between the intestinal epithelium and resident immune cells are important for initiating immune responses against helminth infections (Inclan-Rico & Siracusa, 2018). The intestinal epithelium can respond to helminth PAMPs by cytokine and/or chemokine production or respond to tissue damage caused by helminth invasion by production of alarmins. The function of the enteroid monolayers was therefore further assessed by analyzing their expression of cytokine genes at

exposure to defined TLR agonists mimicking bacterial and viral PAMPs. Apical exposure to TLR2/1, 3, 4 and 5 agonists triggered gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and the viral mimic poly I:C (TLR3) was the only one to induce IFN- $\beta$  indicating that the equine enteroid monolayers can respond to microbial structures in a similar fashion as expected in vivo (Andrews et al, 2018). When challenged with S. vulgaris exL3s, no differential cytokine expression was recorded in the enteroid monolayers. However, S. vulgaris challenge on enteroid monolayers in co-culture with eqPBMC induced a slight up-regulation of IL-8 in the enteroid cells, but not in the eqPBMC. On the contrary, up-regulation of IL-5 was recorded in the eqPBMCs, but not in enteroid cells, suggesting a cross-communication between the enteroid monolayer and eqPBMCs at S. vulgaris challenge. Although methods to co-culture enteroid cells with immune cells are emerging (e.g. Staab et al, 2020; Schreurs et al, 2021), the use of such cocultures in studies of host-microbe interactions are hitherto few and have mainly been focused on bacterial infections in humans and mice (e.g. Noel et al, 2017; Schulte et al, 2020). However, the transwell co-culture system established in the present thesis using eqPBMCs and equine enteroid monolayers could be a valuable tool in future studies of host-GI parasite interaction in the horse.

Except for immunological studies, transwell systems have been widely used to study changes of epithelial barrier integrity at exposure to external factors, such as microorganisms, feed components or medical compounds (Srinivasan et al, 2015). Such a culture system was for example demonstrated by Noel et al (2017) that evaluated barrier integrity and cytokine production to different *E. coli* strains in human enteroid-macrophage co-cultures. Given the invasive nature of most helminth species, transwell culture of enteroid monolayers are not only interesting in terms of co-culture with immune cells but may also be used to elucidate the mechanisms involved in tissue invasion. In the present thesis, the epithelial barrier integrity, estimated by TEER, remained unchanged after 20 h exposure to living *S. vulgaris* exL3s indicating no disruption of the monolayer during this short incubation time. Since the mechanism(s) of larval penetration through the intestinal mucosa by *S. vulgaris* is unknown, appropriate culture conditions for triggering larval invasion is yet to be defined.

Early vaccination trials using attenuated S. vulgaris L3 or soluble somatic extracts indicate that the antigen should preferentially be administrated via the oral route (Monahan et al, 1994; Edmonds, 2001). A major challenge with orally administered vaccines is to compose an immunogenic formulation, especially when it comes to non-living or subunit antigens. The default mode in the intestine to these types of antigens is tolerance or ignorance. To break the tolerogenic milieu, an adjuvant suitable for administration at mucosal surfaces needs to be included in the vaccine formula. While adjuvants based on toxins from Cholerae and E. coli are most commonly used in mucosal vaccines for humans (Lavelle & Ward, 2021), ISCOMs have been successfully included in a number of experimental mucosal vaccines, either standalone (e.g. Kazanji et al, 1994; Coulter et al, 2003; Crouch et al, 2005; Zhang et al, 2014) or formulated with toxoid compounds (Lycke, 2004). In the horse, a "systemic prime/mucosal boost strategy" using an ISCOM-based intranasal booster generated protection against equine influenza (Crouch et al, 2005). Furthermore, ISCOMs have successfully been included in oral experimental vaccines against protozoan parasites (Kazanji et al, 1994; Zhang et al, 2014). The efficacy of ISCOMs at mucosal surfaces is considered to rely on its ability to carry and deliver protein antigens to APCs (Mowat et al, 1999). A similar mode of action is plausible for the G3 adjuvant that can be formulated to incorporate additional molecules. Preliminary results from phenotyping eqPBMCs stimulated with the G3 adjuvant and the TLR2/1 agonist Pam3CSK4 suggests that the G3 adjuvant, similar to ISCOMs, may target APCs. Furthermore, the evaluation of cytokine responses to the G3 adjuvant in cultures of eqPBMC indicates that G3 pre-dominantly induces a Th1 polarizing profile characterized by induction of IL-12p40 and IFN-y. A Th1 skewed cytokine profile was also observed in porcine PBMCs after in vitro exposure to the G3 adjuvant (Hjertner et al, 2018b), and inclusion of the G3 adjuvant in an experimental influenza vaccine generated a mixed Th1/Th2 response in mice (Hjertner et al, 2018a).

How an adjuvant should be formulated to optimally induce immune protection against helminth antigens in the mucosa is not entirely clear. Suggestively, a mucosal adjuvant should include components that enable uptake across the mucosal barrier, e.g. by targeting M-cells. This will facilitate antigen presentation by mucosal DCs that can in turn enhance T

cell priming and development of long-lasting plasma cells and memory B cells (Gerdts et al, 2005; Lycke, 2012). Indeed, methods to differentiate M cells in enteroid cultures are emerging (Kanava et al, 2018), possibly enabling ex vivo screenings of adjuvant compounds aimed to target M cells in the future. Moreover, as mucosal DCs play a central role in priming immune responses, targeting specific mucosal DC subsets, such as CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs, could direct systemic responses towards mucosal sites (Ruane & Lavelle, 2011; Lycke, 2012). In this context, bacterial flagellin has gained attention for its ability to target immune cells of the intestinal mucosa (reviewed by Cui et al, 2018). Systemic immunization with FliC, isolated from Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium, were shown to drive TLR5dependent recruitment of CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs in the mesenteric lymph nodes resulting in an increased local differentiation of Treg cells and class switching to IgA (Flores-Langarica et al, 2012). In the present thesis, the immunomodulatory effect of the G3 adjuvant in combination with FliC was studied in cultures of eqPBMC. The results indicate that the G3 adjuvant can enhance the FliC-induced gene expression of IL-8 while simultaneously reduce the gene expression of IL-10. A similar effect on the IL-10 gene expression was recorded in eqPBMC after combining G3 with Pam3CSK4. As many helminths are known to manipulate the host's immune response to produce IL-10, this feature makes the G3 adjuvant an interesting candidate adjuvant for use in equine vaccines with prospects of evading antigenic undesired immune reactions. The inactivated larval preparations of S. vulgaris generated in the present thesis did not induce gene expression of IL-10 in eqPBMCs. However, as most immunomodulatory actions by helminths are mediated through ES-products (Maizels et al, 2018), an induction of IL-10 at S. vulgaris infection should not be ruled out. The Th1 polarizing capacity of the G3 adjuvant also occurred in the presence of S. vulgaris L3s, as shown by up-regulation of IFN- $\gamma$  and down-regulation of IL-4 and IL-5. Together, these in vitro data suggest that the G3 adjuvant can balance Th2 polarizing immune responses towards a mixed Th1/Th2 profile in the horse.

Taken together, work within this thesis has extended previous knowledge on the biology of *S. vulgaris* infection and advanced the *ex vivo* tools for further studies on GI pathogens in the horse and/or initial screening of vaccine components.

# 7. Future perspectives

- As *S. vulgaris* also invades the submucosa of the large intestine, future studies should focus on generation of equine colonoids.
- Since the mechanism(s) of larval penetration through the intestinal mucosa is unknown, future studies should elucidate these mechanisms.
- To aid targeting the intestinal mucosa, targeting molecules such as FliC will be considered in future vaccine designs against *S. vulgaris*.
- The candidate vaccine components identified in this thesis should be tested for their immunogenicity *in vivo*.

### References

- Aboshady HM, Stear MJ, Johansson A, Jonas E, Bambou JC (2020). Immunoglobulins as biomarkers for gastrointestinal nematodes resistance in small ruminants: a systemic review. Sci Rep 10(1):7765.
- Ahumada V, Manotas M, Zakzuk J, Aglas L, Coronado S, Briza P, Lackner P, Regino R, Araujo G, Ferreira F, Caraballo L (2020). Identification and Physicochemical Characterization of a New Allergen from Ascaris lumbricoides. Int J Mol Sci 21(24):9761.
- Altay G, Larrañaga E, Tosi S, Barriga FM, Batlle E, Fernández-Majada V, Martínez E (2019). Self-organized intestinal epithelial monolayers in crypt and villuslike domains show effective barrier function. Sci Rep 9:10140.
- Andersen UV, Howe DK, Olsen SN, Nielsen MK (2013a). Recent advances in diagnosing pathogenic equine gastrointestinal helminths: the challange of prepatent detection. Vet Parasitol 192(1-3):1-9.
- Andersen UV, Howe DK, Dangoudoubiyam S, Toft N, Reinemeyer CR, Lyons ET, Olsen SN, Monrad J, Nejsum P, Nielsen MK (2013b) SvSXP: a Strongylus vulgaris antigen with potential for prepatent diagnosis. Parasit vectors 6:84.
- Andrews C, McLean MH, Durum SK (2018). Cytokine tuning of intestinal epithelial function. Front Immunol 9:1270
- Anthony RM, Urban JF, Alem F, Hamed HA, Rozo CT, Boucher JL, Van Rooijen N, Gause WC (2006). Memory Th2 cells induce alternatively activated macrophages to mediate protection against nematode parasites. Nat Med 12(8):955-960.
- Anthony RM, Rutitzky LI, Urban JF, Stadecker MJ, Gause WC (2007). Protective immune mechanisms in helminth infection. Nat Rev Immunol 7(12):975-987.
- Bain RK (1999). Irradiated vaccines for helminth control in livestock. Int J Parasitol 29(1):185-191.
- Bancroft AJ, Else RK, Grencis RK (1994). Low-level infection with Trichuris muris significantly affects the polarization of the CD4 response. Eur J Immunol 24(12):3113-8.
- Bannai H, Takahashi Y, Ohmura H, Ebisuda Y, Mukai K, Kambayashi Y, Nemoto M, Tsujimura K, Ohta M, Raidal S, Padalino B (2021). Decreased virusneutralizing antibodies against equine herpesvirus type 1 in nasal secretions of horses after 12-hour transportation. J Equin Vet Sci 103:103665.
- Bartfield S (2016). Modeling infectious diseases and host-microbe interactions in gastrointestinal organoids. Dev Biol 420(2):262:270.

- Bevilaqua CML, Rodrigues ML, Concordet D (1993). Identification of infective larvae of some common nematode strongylids of horses [Strongylus vulgaris, S. equinus, S. edentatus, Triodontophorus spp., Poteriostomum spp., Gyalocephalus capitatus, Cylicocyclus radiatus, C. nassatus, C. minutus, C. poculatus]. Rev Med Vet (France) 12:989-995.
- Bordin AI, Pillai SD, Brake C, Bagley KB, Bourquin JR, Coleman M, Oliviera FN, Mwangi W, McMurray DN, Love CC, Felippe MJB, Cohen ND (2014). Immunogenicity of electron beam inactivated Rhodococcus equi vaccine in neonatal foals. PLoS One 9(8):e105367.
- Borish LC, Steinke JW (2003). Cytokines and chemokines. J Allergy Clin Immunol 111:2.
- Burakova Y, Madera R, McVey S, Schlup JR, Shi J (2017). Adjuvants for animal vaccines. Viral Immunol 31:11–22
- Bunker JJ, Bendelac A (2018). IgA responses to microbiota. Immunity 49(2):211-224.
- Bush SJ, McColloch MEB, Lisowski ZM, Muriuki C, Clark EL, Young R, Pridans C, Prendergast JGD, Summers KM, Hume DA (2020). Species-specificity of transcriptional regulation and the response to lipopolysaccharide in mammalian macrophages. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:661.
- Caballero ML, Moneo I, Gómez-Aguado F, Corcuera MT, Casado I, Rodríguez-Pérez R (2008). Isolation of Ani s 5, an excretory-secretory and highly heatresistant allergen useful for the diagnosis of Anisakis larvae sensitization. Parasitol Res 3(5):1231-3.
- Cao Z, Weygant N, Chandrakesan P, Houchen CW, Peng J, Qu D (2020). Tuft and Cancer Stem Cell Marker DCLK1: A New Target to Enhance Anti-Tumor Immunity in the Tumor Microenvironment. Cancers (Basel) 12(12):3801.
- Caproni E, Tritto E, Cortese M, Muzzi A, Mosca F, Monaci E, Baudner B, Seubert A, De Gregorio E (2012). MF59 and Pam3CSK4 boost adaptive responses to influenza subunit vaccine through an IFN type I-independent mechanism of action. J Immunol 188(7):3088-98.
- Chaiyadet S, Sotillo J, Krueajampa W, Thongsen S, Brindley PJ, Sripa B, Loukas A, Laha T (2019). Vaccination of hamsters with Opisthorchis viverrini extracellular vesicles and vesicle-derived recombinant tetraspanins induces antibodies that block vesicle uptake by cholangiocytes and reduce parasite burden after challenge infection. PLOS Negl Trop Dis 13:e0007450.
- Chandra L, Borcherding DC, Kingsbury D, Atherly T, Ambrosini YM, Bourgois-Mochel A, Yuan W, Kimber M, Qi Y, Wang Q, Wannemuehler M, Ellinwood NM, Snella E, Martin M, Skala M, Meyerholz D, Estes M, Fernansez-Zapico ME, Jergens AE, Mochel JP, Allenspach K (2019). Derivation of adult canine intestinal organoids for translational research in gastroenterology. BMC Biol 17:33.

- Chapman MR, Hutchinson GW, Cenac MJ, Klei RT (1994). In vitro culture of equine Strongylidae to the fourth larval stage in a cell-free medium. J Parasitol 80(2):225-231.
- Co JY, Margalef-Català M, Li X, Mah AT, Kuo CJ, Monack DM, Amieva MR (2019). Controlling epithelial polarity: a human enteroid model for host pathogen interactions. Cell Rep 26(9)2509-2520.
- Coakley G, McCaskill JL, Borger JG, Simbari F, Robertson E, Millar M, Harcus Y, McSorley HJ, Maizels RM, Buck AH (2017). Extracellular vesicles from a helminth parasite suppress macrophage activation and constitute an effective vaccine for protective immunity. Cell Rep 19(8):1545-1557.
- Coleman MC, Whitfield-Cargile C, Cohen ND, Goldsby JL, Davidson L, Chamoun-Emanuelli AM, Ivanov I, Eades S, Ing N, Chapkin RS (2020). Non-invasive evaluation of the equine gastrointestinal mucosal transcriptome. PLoS One 15(3):e0229797.
- Collinet A, Grimm P, Julliand S, Julliand V (2021a). Multidimensional approach for investigating the effects of an antibiotic-probiotic combination on the equine hindgut ecosystem and microbial fibrolysis. Front Microbiol 12:646294.
- Collinet A, Grimm P, Julliand S, Julliand V (2021b). Sequental modulation of the equine fecal microbiota and fibrolytic capacity following two consecutive abrupt dietary changes and bacterial supplementation. Animals (Basel) 11(5):1278.
- Constant DA, Nice TJ, Rauch I (2021). Innate immune sensing by epithelial barriers. Curr Opin Immunol. Aug 12;73:1-8.
- Costa MC, Weese JS (2012). The equine intestinal microbiome. Animal Health Res Rev 13(1):121-128.
- Coulter A, Harris R, Davis R, Drane D, Cox J, Ryan D, Sutton P, Rockman S, Pearse M (2003). Intranasal vaccination with ISCOMATRIX adjuvanted influenza vaccine. Vaccine. 21(9-10):946-9.
- Crouch CF, Daly J, Hannant D, Wilkins J, Francis MJ (2004). Immune responses and protective efficacy in ponies immunised with an equine influenza ISCOM vaccine containing an American lineage' H3N8 virus. Vaccine. 23(3):418-25.
- Crouch CF, Daly J, Henley W, Hannant D, Wilkins J, Francis MJ (2005). The use of a systemic prime/mucosal boost strategy with an equine influenza ISCOM vaccine to induce protective immunity in horses. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 108(3-4):345-355.
- Cui B, Liu X, Fang Y, Zhou P, Zhang Y, Wang Y (2018). Flagellin as a vaccine adjuvant. Expert Rev Vaccines 17(4):335-349.
- Davidson AJ, Edwards GB, Proudman CJ, Matthews JB (2002). Cytokine mRNA expression pattern in horses with large intestinal disease. Res Vet Sci 72(3):177-185.

- Davidson AJ, Hodgkinson JE, Proudman CJ, Matthews JB (2005). Cytokine responses to cyathostominae larvae in the equine large intestinal wall. Res Vet Sci 78(2):169-176.
- Del Prete GF, De Carli M, Mastromauro C, Biagiotti R, Macchia D, Falagiani P, Ricci M, Romagnani S (1991). Purified protein derivative of Mycobacterium tuberculosis and excretory-secretory antigen(s) of Toxocara canis expand in vitro human T cells with stable and opposite (type 1 T helper or type 2 T helper) profile of cytokine production. J Clin Invest 88(1):346-50.
- Dennis VA, Klei TR, Chapman MR, Gale W (1988). In vivo activation of equine eosinophils and neutrophils by experimental Strongylus vulgaris infections. Vet Immuno Immunopath 20, 61-74.
- Dennis VA, Klei TR, Miller MA, Chapman MR, McClure JR (1992). Immune responses of pony foals during repeated infections of Strongylus vulgaris and regular ivermectin treatments. Vet Parasito 42: 83-99.
- Dennis VA, Klei TR, Chapman MR (1993). Generation and partial characterization of an eosinophil chemotactic cytokine produced by sensitized equine mononuclear cells stimulated with strongylus vulgaris antigen. Vet Immunology and Immunopathology, 37 (135-149).
- Dowdall SMJ, Matthews JB, Mair T, Murphy D, Love S, Proudman CJ (2002). Antigen-specific IgG(T) responses in natural and experimental cyathostominae infection in horses. Vet Parasitol 106:225-242.
- Duncan JL, Pirie HM (1975). The pathogenesis of single experimental infections with Strongylus vulgaris in foals. Res Vet Sci 18:82-93.
- Duque-Correa MA, Maizels RM, Grencis RK, Berriman M (2020). Organoids New Models for Host-Helminth Interactions. Trends Parasitol 36(2):170-181.
- Edmonds JD (2001). T-cell cytokines and equine nematode infections. PhD thesis. Louisiana State University and Agricultural & Mechanical College. LSU Historical Dissertations and Thesis. 400.
- Eichenberger RM, Ryan S, Jones L, Buitrago G, Polster R, Montes de Oca M, Zuvelek J, Giacomin PR, Dent LA, Engwerda CR, Field MA, Sotillo J, Loukas A (2018). Hookworm secreted extracellular vesicles interact with host cells and prevent inducible colitis in mice. Front Immunol 9:850.
- Else KJ, Hültner L, Grencis RK (1992). Cellular immune responses to the murine nematode parasite Trichuris muris. II. Differential induction of TH-cell subsets in resistant versus susceptible mice. Immunology 75(2):232-237.
- Farrar RG, Klei TR (1985). In vitro development of Strongylus edentatus to the fourth larval stage with notes on Strongylus vulgaris and Strongylus equinus. J Parasitol 71(4):489-99.
- Fedorka CE, El-Sheik Ali H, Walker OF, Scoggin KE, Dini P, Loux SC, Troedsson T, Ball BA (2021). The imbalance of the Th17/Treg axis following equine ascending placental infection. J Reprod Immunol 144:103268.

- Ferrick DA, Schrenzel MD, Mulvania T, Hsieh B, Ferlin WG, Lepper H (1995). Differential production of interferon-gamma and interleukin-4 in response to Th1- and Th2-stimulating pathogens by gamma delta T cells in vivo. Nature 373(6511):255-7.
- Figueiredo MD, Vandenplas ML, Hurley DJ, Moore JN (2009). Differential induction of MyD88- and TRIF- dependent pathways in equine monocytes by toll-like receptor agonists. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 127(1-2):125-134.
- Flaminio JM, Ibrahim S, Lunn DP, Stark R, Steinbach F (2007). Further analysis of anti-human leukocyte mAbs with reactivity to equine leukocytes by twocolor flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 119(1-2):92-99.
- Flores-Langarica A, Marshall JL, Hitchcock J, Cook C, Jobanputra J, Bobat S, Ross EA, Coughlan RE, Henderson IR, Uematsu S, Akira S, Cunningham AF (2012). Systemic flagellin immunization stimulates mucosal CD103+ dendritic cells and drives Foxp3+ regulatory T cell and IgA responses in the mesenteric lymph node. J Immunol 189(12):5745-54.
- Fossum C, Hjertner B, Olofsson KM, Lindberg L, Ahooghalandari P, Camargo MM, Bröjer J, Edner A, Nostell K (2012). Expression of tlr2, md2 and cd14 in equine blood leukocytes during endotoxin infusion and in intestinal tissues from healthy horses. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 150: 141-148.
- Foster N, Elsheikha HM (2012). The immune response to parasitic helminths of veterinary importance and its potential manipulation for future vaccine control strategies. Parasitol Res 110:1587-1599.
- Fujiwara RT, Zhan B, Mendez S, Loukas A, Bueno LL, Wang Y, Plieskatt J, Oksov Y, Lustigman S, Bottazzi ME, Hotez P, Bethony JM (2007). Reduction of worm fecundity and canine host blood loss mediates protection against hookworm infection elicited by vaccination with recombinant Ac-16. Clin Vaccine Immunol 14(3):281-287.
- García-Mayoral MF, Treviño MA, Pérez-Piñar T, Caballero ML, Knaute T, Umpierrez A, Bruix M, Rodríguez-Pérez R (2014). Relationships between IgE/IgG4 epitopes, structure and function in Anisakis simplex Ani s 5, a member of the SXP/RAL-2 protein family. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 8(3):e2735.
- Geiser P, Di Martino ML, Samperio Ventayol P, Eriksson J, Sima E, Al-Saffar AK, Ahl D, Philipson M, Webb DL, Sundbom M, Hellström PM, Sellin ME (2021). Salmonella enterica serovar typhimuruim exploits cycling through epithelial cells to colonize human and murine enteroids. mBio 12(1):e02684-20.
- Gerdts V, Mutwiri GK, Tikoo SK, Babiuk LA (2005). Mucosal delivery of vaccines in domestic animals. Vet Res 37:487-510.

- Gerbe F, Brulin B, Makrini L, Legraverend C, Jay P. DCAMKL-1 expression identifies Tuft cells rather than stem cells in the adult mouse intestinal epithelium (2009). Gastroenterology 137(6):2179-80.
- Gerbe F, Sidot E, Smyth DJ, Ohmoto M, Matsumoto I, Dardalhon V, Cesses P, Garnier L, Pouzolles M, Brulin B, Bruschi M, Harcus Y, Zimmermann VS, Taylor N, Maizels RM, Jay P (2016). Intestinal epithelial tuft cells initiate type 2 mucosal immunity to helminth parasites. Nature 529:226-230.
- Gonzalez LM, Kinnin LA, Blikslager AT (2015). Characterization of discrete equine intestinal epithelial cell lineages. Am J Vet Res 76(4):358-366.
- Grencis, R (2015). Immunity to helminths: resistance, regulation, and susceptibility to gastrointestinal nematodes. Annu Rev Immunol 33:201-225.
- Guzman E, Montoya M (2018). Contributions of farm animals to immunology. Front Vet Sci 5:307.
- Harrington LE, Mangan PR, Weaver CT (2006). Expanding the effector CD4 T-cell repertoire: the Th17 lineage. Curr Opin Immunol 18(3)349-56.
- Hedberg-Alm Y, Penell J, Riihimäki M, Osterman-Lind E, Nielsen MK, Tydén E (2020). Parasite occurence and parasite management in Swedish horses presenting with gastrointestinal disease – a case-control study. Animals (Basel) 10(4):638.
- Hewitson JP, Maizels RM (2014). Vaccination against helminth parasite infections. Ex Rev Vacc 13(4):473-487.
- Hjertner B, Olofsson KM, Lindberg R, Fuxler L, Fossum C (2013). Expression of reference genes and T helper 17 associated cytokine genes in the equine intestinal tract. Vet J 197: 817-823.
- Hjertner B, Bengtsson T, Morein B, Paulie S, Fossum C (2018a). A novel adjuvant G3 induces both Th1 and Th2 related immune responses in mice after immunization with a trivalent inactivated split-virion influenza vaccine. Vaccine 36(23):3340-3344.
- Hjertner B, Hellman S, Bengtsson T, Paulie S, Morein B, Fossum C (2018b). Immunostimulatory effects of a novel adjuvant G3 on murine and porcine cells. 6<sup>th</sup> European Veterinary Immunology Workshop (EVIW2018). Utrecht, Netherlands. Sept 5-8.
- Humphreys NE, Worthington JJ, Little MC, Rice EJ, Grencis RK (2004). The role of CD8+ cells in the establishment and maintenance of a Trichuris muris infection. Parasite Immunol 26(4):187-196.
- Ibrahim S, Saunders K, Kydd JH, Lunn DP, Steinbach F (2007). Screening of antihuman leukocyte monoclonal antibodies for reactivity with equine leukocytes. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 119 (1-2):63-80.
- Inagaki-Ohara K, Sakamoto Y, Dohi T, Smith AL (2011). γδ T cells play a protective role during infection with Nippostrongylus brasiliensis by promoting goblet cell function in the small intestine. Immunology 134(4):448-458.

- Inclan-Rico JM, Siracusa MC (2018). First Responders: Innate Immunity to Helminths. Trends Parasitol 34(10):861-880.
- Irvine KL, Hopkins LJ, Gangloff M, Bryant CE (2013). The molecular basis for recognition of bacterial ligands at equine TLR2, TLR1 and TLR6. Vet Res 44:50.
- Jacobs JR, Middleton D, Greiner SP, Bowdridge SA (2020). RNA-sequencing of ovine PBMC after exposure to Haemonchus contortus larval antigen. Parasite Immunol 42(5):e12697.
- Jayakumar A, Castilho TM, Park E, Goldsmith-Pestana K, Blackwell JM, McMahon-Pratt D (2011). TLR1/2 activation during heterologous primeboost vaccination (DNA-MVA) enhances CD8+ T cell responses providing protection against Leishmania (Viannia). PLoS Negl Trop Dis 5(6):e1204.
- Jones PD, Tha Hla R, Morein B, Lovgren K, Ada GL (1988). Cellular immune responses in the murine lung to local immunization with influenza A virus glycoproteins in micelles and immunostimulatory complexes (iscoms). Scand J Immunol 27(6):645-52.
- Josefowicz SZ, Lu LF, Rudensky AY (2012). Regulatory T cells: mechanisms of differentiation and function. Annu Rev Immunol 30:531-564.
- Kanaya T, Sakakibara S, Jinnohara T, Hachisuka M, Tachibana N, Hidano S, Kobayashi T, Kimura S, Iwanaga T, Nakagawa T, Katsuno T, Kato N, Akiyama T, Sato T, Williams IR, Ohno H (2018). Development of intestinal M cells and follicle-associated epithelium is regulated by TRAF6-mediated NF-κβ signalling. J Exp Med 215(2):501-519.
- Kaplan MH (2013). Th9 cells: differentiation and disease. Immunol Rev 252(1):104-115.
- Kaplan RM, Nielsen MK (2010). An evidence-based approach to equine parasite control: It ain't the 60s anymore. Equine Vet Educ 22(6):306-316.
- Kar SK, Wells JM, Ellen ED, te Pas MFW, Madsen O, Groenen MAM, Woelders H (2021). Organoids: a promising new in vitro platform in livestock and veterinary research. Vet Res 52:43.
- Kaspar A, Pfister K, Nielsen MK, Silaghi C, Fink H, Scheuerle MC (2017). Detection of Strongylus vulgaris in equine faecal samples by real-time PCR and larval culture – method comparison and occurrence assessment. BMC Vet Res 13(1):19.
- Kazanji M, Laurent F, Péry P (1994). Immune responses and protective effect in mice vaccinated orally with surface sporozoite protein of Eimeria falciformis in ISCOMs. Vaccine 12(9):798-804.
- Keggan A, Freer H, Rollins A, Wagner B (2013). Production of seven monoclonal equine immunoglobulins isotyped by multiplex analysis. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 153(3-4):187-193.
- Klei TR, Torbert BJ, Chapman MR, Ochoa R (1982). Irradiated larval vaccination of ponies against Strongylus vulgaris. J Parasitol 68(4):561-569.

- Klei TR, Chapman MR, Torbert BJ, McClure JR (1983). Antibody responses of ponies to initial and challenge infections of Strongylus vulgaris. Vet Parasitol 12:187-198.
- Klei TR, Chapman MR, Dennis VA (1992). Role of the eosinophil in serummediated adherence of equine leukocytes to infective larvae of Strongylus vulgaris. J Parasitol 78(3):477-484.
- Klei TR. Equine immunity to parasites (2000). Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract 16(1):69-78.
- Kleinman HK, McGarvey ML, Hassell JR, Star VL, Cannon FB, Laurie GW, Martin GR (1986). Basement membrane complexes with biological activity. Biochemistry 25(2):312-318.
- Kleinman HK, Martin GR (2005). Matrigel: basement membrane matrix with biological ativity. Semin Cancer Biol 15(5):378-386.
- Knox JJ, Myles A, Cancro Mp (2019). T-bet+ memory B cells: generation, function and fate. Immunol Rev 288(1):149-160.
- Kreider T, Anthony RM, Urban JF, Gause WC (2007). Alternatively activated macrophages in helminth infections. Curr Opin Immunol 19(4):448-453.
- Kumar H, Kawai T, Akira S (2011). Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. Int Rev Immunol. 30(1):16-34.
- Kwon S, Gewirtz AT, Hurley DJ, Robertson TP, Moore JN, Vandenplas ML (2011). Disparities in TLR5 expression and responsiveness to flagellin in equine neutrophils and mononuclear phagocytes. J Immunol 186:6263-6270.
- Kydd J, Antczak DF, Allen WR, Barbis D, Butcher G, Davis W, Duffus WP, Edington N, Grünig G, Holmes MA (1994). Report of the first international workshop on equine leucocyte antigens, Cambridge, UK, July 1991. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 42(1):3-60.
- Lavelle EC, Ward RW (2021). Mucosal vaccines fortifying the frontiers. Nat Rev Immunol 26:1–15.
- Lewis MJ, Wagner B, Irvine RM, Woof JM (2010). IgA in the horse: cloning of equine polymeric Ig receptor and J chain and characterization of recombinant forms of equine IgA. Mucosal Immunol 3(6):610-621.
- Leise BS, Yin C, Pettigrew A, Belknap JK (2010). Proinflammatory cytokine responses of cultured equine keratinocytes to bacterial pathogen-associated molecular pattern motifs. Equine Vet J 42:294-303.
- Li D, Wu M (2021). Pattern recognition receptors in health and diseases. Signal Transduct Target Ther 6(1):291.
- Liebler-Tenorio EM, Pabst R (2006). MALT structure and function in farm animals. Vet res 37(3):257-280.
- Licona-Limón O, Arias-Rojas A, Olgúin-Martínez E (2017). IL-9 and Th9 in parasite immunity. Semin Immunopathol 39(1):29-38.
- Liu Y, Qi Z, Li X, Du Y, Chen YG (2018). Monolayer culture of intestinal epithelium sustains Lgr5<sup>+</sup> intestinal stem cells. Cell Discov 4:32.

- Lloyd CM, Snelgrove RJ (2018). Type 2 immunity: expanding our view. Sci Immunol 3(25):eaat1604.
- Luo XC, Chen ZH, Xue JB, Zhao DX, Lu C, Li YH, Li SM, Du YW, Liu Q, Wang P, Liu M, Hunag L (2019). Infection by the parasitic helminth Trichinella spiralis activates a Tas2r-mediated signalling pathway in intestinal tuft cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(12):5564-5569.
- Lunn DP, Holmes MA, Antczak DF, Agerwal N, Baker J, Bendali-Ahcene S, Blanchard-Channell M, Byrne KM, Cannizzo K, Davis W, Hamilton MJ, Hannant D, Kondo T, Kydd JH, Monier MC, Moore PF, O'Niel T, Schram BR, Sheoran A, Stott JL, Sugiura T, Vagnoni KE (1998). Report of the second equine leucocyte antigen workshop, Squaw valley, California, July 1995, Vet Immunol Immunopathol 62:101–143.
- Lycke N (2004). From toxin to adjuvant: the rational design of a vaccine adjuvant vector, CTA1-DD/ISCOM. Cell Microbiol 6(1):23-32.
- Lycke N (2012). Recent progress in mucosal vaccine development: potential and limitations. Nat Rev Immunol 12(8):592-605.
- Lycke NY, Bemark M (2017). The regulation of gut mucosal IgA B-cell responses: recent developments. Mucosal Immunol 10(6):1361-1374.
- Lövgren-Bengtsson K, Sjölander A (1996). Adjuvant activity of iscoms; effect of ratio and co-incorporation of antigen and adjuvant. Vaccine 14(8):753-760.
- Lövgren-Bengtsson K, Morein B, Osterhaus AD (2011) ISCOM technology-based Matrix M adjuvant: success in future vaccines relies on formulation. Exp Rev Vacc 10(4):401-3.
- Maizels RM, Smits HH, McSorley HJ (2018). Modulation of host immunity by helminths: the expanding repertoire of parasite effector molecules. Immunity 49(5):801-818.
- Makepeace BL, Martin C, Turner JD, Specht S (2012). Granulocytes in helminth infection who is calling the shots? Curr Med Chem 19:1567-1586.
- McDole JR, Wheeler LW, McDonald KG, Wang B, Konjufca V, Knoop KA, Newberry RD, Miller MJ (2012). Goblet cells deliver luminal antigen to CD103+ dendritic cells in the small intestine. Nature 483(7389):345-349.
- McGraw BM, Slocombe JOD (1976). Strongylus vulgaris in the horse: a review. Can Vet J 17(6).
- McKay DM, Shute A, Lopes F (2017). Helminths and intestinal barrier function. Tissue barriers 5(1):e1283385.
- Mealey RH, Kappmeyer LS, Ueti MW, Wagner B, Knowels DP (2012). Protective effects of passively transferred merozoite-specific antibodies against Theileria equi in horses with severe combines immunodeficiency. Clin Vaccine Immunol 19(1):100-104.
- Merker SR, Weitz J, Stange DE (2016). Gastrointestinal organoids: how they gut it out. Dev Biol 420(2):239-250.

- Middelhoff M, Westphalen CB, Hayakawa Y, Yan KS, Gershon MD, Wang TC, Quante M (2017). Dclk1-expressing tuft cells: critical modulators of the intestinal niche? Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 313(4):G285-G299.
- Mirchandani AS, Besnard AG, Yip E, Scott C, Bain CC, Cerovic V, Salmond RJ, Liew FY (2014). Type 2 innate lymphoid cells drive CD4<sup>+</sup> Th2 cell responses. J Immunol 192(5):2442-2448.
- Mizel SB, Bates JT (2010). Flagellin as an adjuvant: cellular mechanisms and potential. J Immunol 185(10):5677-5682.
- Monahan CM, Taylor HW, Chapman MR, Klei TR (1994). Experimental immunization of ponies with Strongylus vulgaris radiation-attenuated larvae or crude soluble somatic extracts from larval or adult stages. J Parasitol 80(6):911-923.
- Morein, B., Sundquist, B., Hoglund, S., Dalsgaard, K. & Osterhaus, A. (1984). Iscom, a novel structure for antigenic presentation of membrane proteins from enveloped viruses. Nature 308:457-60.
- Morton HC, Pleass RJ, Storset AK, Brandtzaeg P, Woof JM (2005). Cloning and characterization of equine CD89 and identification of the CD89 gene in chimpanzees and rhesus macaques. Immunology 115(1):74-84.
- Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RT (1986). Two types of murine helper T cell clone . I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. J Immunol 136(7):2348
- Motran CC, Silvane L, Chiapello LS, Theumer MG, Ambrioso LF, Volpini X, Celias DP, Cervi L (2018). Helminth infections: recognition and modulation of the immune response by innate immune cells. Front Immunol 9:664.
- Mowat AM, Smith RE, Donachie AM, Furrie E, Grdic D, Lycke N. (1999) Oral vaccination with immune stimulating complexes. Immunol Lett 65(1-2):133-40.
- Mörbe UM, Jørgensen PB, Fenton TM, von Burg N, Riis LB, Spencer J, Agace WW (2021). Human gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT); diversity, structure, and function. Mucosal Immunol 14(4):793-802.
- Naqvi MA, Memon MA, Jamil T, Naqvi SZ, Aimulajiang K, Gadahi JA, Xu L, Song X, Li X, Yan R (2020). Galectin domain containing protein from Haemonchus contortus modulates the immune functions of goat PBMCs and regulates CD4+ T-helper cells in vitro. Biomolecules 10(1):116.
- Neill DR, Wong SH, Bellosi A, Flynn RJ, Daly M, Langford TKA, Bucks C, Kane CM, Fallon PG, Pannell R, Jolin HE, McKenzie ANJ (2010). Nuocytes represent a new innate effector leukocyte that mediates type-2 immunity. Nature 464(7293):1367-1370.
- Nielsen MK, Peterson DS, Monrad J, Thamsborg SM, Olsen SN, Kaplan RM (2008). Detection and semi-quantification of Strongylus vulgaris DNA in equine faeces by real-time quantative PCR. Int J Parasitol 38(3-4):443-453.

- Nielsen MK, Vidyashankar AN, Olsen SN, Monrad J, Thamsborg SM (2012). Strongylus vulgaris associated with usage of selective therapy on Danish horse farms – is it reemerging? Vet Parasitol 189(2-4):260-266.
- Nielsen MK, Vidayashankar AN, Gravette HS, Bellaw J, Lyons ET, Andersen UV (2014). Development of Strongylus vulgaris-specific serum antibodies in naturally infected foals. Vet Parasitol 200(3-4):265-270.
- Nielsen MK, Vidyashankar AN, Bellaw J, Gravatte HS, Cao X, Rubinson EF, Reinemeyer CR (2015). Serum Strongylus vulgaris-specific antibody responses to anthelmintic treatment in naturally infected horses. Parasitol Res 114(2):445-51.
- Nielsen M, Reinemeyer C (2018). Biology and life cycles of equine parasites. Handbook of Equine Parasite Control. Chapter 1, 1-23. 10.1002/9781119382829.ch1.
- Nisbet AJ, Meeusen EN, Gonzalez JF, Piedrafita D (2016). Immunity to Haemonchus contortus and vaccine development. Adv Parasit 93.
- Nixon SA, Welz C, Woods DJ, Costa-Junior L, Zamanian M, Martin RJ (2020). Where are all the anthelminthics? Challenges and opportunities on the path to new anthelminthics. Int J Drugs Drug Restist 14:8-16.
- Noel G, Baetz NW, Staab JF, Donowitz M, Kovbasnjuk O, Pasetti MF, Zachos NC (2017). A primary human macrophage-enteroid co-culture model to investigate mucosal gut physiology and host-pathogen interactions. Sci rep 7:4520.
- Oliphant CJ, Hwang YY, Walker JA, Salimi M, Wong SH, Brewer JM, Englezakis A, Barlow JL, Hams E, Scanlon ST, Ogg GS, Fallon PG, McKenzie ANJ (2014). MHCII-mediated dialog between group 2 innate lymphoid cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells potentiates type 2 immunity and promotes parasitic helminth expulsion. Immunity 41(2):283-295.
- Olofsson KM, Hjertner B, Fossum C, Press CM (2015). Expression of T helper type 17 (Th17)-associated cytokines and toll-like receptor 4 and their correlation with Foxp3 positive cells in rectal biopsies of horses with clinical signs of inflammatory bowel disease. Vet J 206: 97-104.
- Olofsson KM (2016). Immunopathological aspects of equine inflammatory bowel disease. PhD thesis. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Pacholewska A, Marti, E, Leeb T, Jagannathan V, Gerber V (2017). LPS-induced modules of co-expressed genes in equine peripheral blood mononuclear cells. BMC Genomics 18:34.
- Paillot R, Grimmett H, Elton D, Daly JM (2008). Protection, systemic IFNgamma, and antibody responses induced by an ISCOM-based vaccine against a recent equine influenza virus in its natural host. Vet res 39(3):21.

- Paillot R, Prowse L (2012). ISCOM-matric-based equine influenza (EIV) vaccine stimulates cell-mediated immunity in the horse. Vet immunol Immunopathol 145(1-2):516-521.
- Palm AKE, Wattle O, Lundström T, Wattrang E (2016). Secretory immunoglobulin A and immunoglobulin G in horse saliva. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 180:59-65.
- Panda SK, Colonna M (2019). Innate Lymphoid Cells in Mucosal Immunity. Front Immunol 10:861.
- Parkinson NJ, Buechner-Maxwell VA, Witonsky SG, Pleasant S, Were SR (2017). Characterization of basal and lipopolysaccharide-induced microRNA expression in equine peripheral blood mononuclear cells using nextgeneration sequencing. PLoS One 12(5):e0177664.
- Patel RS, Tomlinson JE, Divers TJ, Van de Valle GR, Rosenberg BR (2021). Singlecell resolution landscape of equine peripheral blood mononuclear cells reveals diverse cell types including T-bet<sup>+</sup>B cells. BMC Biol 19:(1)13.
- Peachey LE, Castro C, Molena RA, Jenkins TP, Griffin JL, Cantacessi C (2019). Dysbiosis associated with acute helminth infections in herbivorous youngstock – observations and implications. Sci Rep 9(1):11121.
- Perera DJ, Ndao M (2021). Promising Technologies in the Field of Helminth Vaccines. Front Immunol 12:711650.
- Perrigoue JG, Marshall F, Artis D (2008). On the hunt for helminths: innate immune cells in the recognition and response to helminth parasites.
- Pihl TH, Nielsen MK, Olsen SN, Leifsson PS, Jacobsen S (2018). Nonstrangulating intestinal infarctions associated with Strongylus vulgaris: Clinical presentation and treatment outcomes of 30 horses (2008–2016). Equine Vet J 4:474-480.
- Pittaway CE, Lawson AL, Coles GC, Wilson AD (2014). Systemic and mucosal IgE antibody responses of horses to infection with Anoplocephala perfoliata. Vet Parasitol 199(1-2):32-41.
- Price AE, Liang HE, Sullivan BM, Reinhart RL, Eisley CJ, Erle DJ, Locksley RM (2010). Systemically dispersed innate IL-13-expressing cells in type 2 immunity. PNAS 107(25):11489-94.
- Raza A, Qamar AG, Hayat K, Ashraf S, Williams AR (2019). Anthelminthic resistance and novel control options in equine gastrointestinal nematodes. Parasitology 146(4):425-437.
- Reed SG, Orr MT, Fox CB (2013). Key roles of adjuvants in modern vaccines. Nat Med 19:1597–1608.
- Rescigno M, Urbano M, Valzasina B, Francolini M, Rotta G, Bonasio R, Granucci F, Kraehenbuhl JP, Racciardi-Castagnoli P (2001). Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. Nat Immunol 2(4):361-367.

- Ruane DT, Lavelle EC (2011). The role of CD103<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells in the intestinal mucosal immune system. Front Immunol 2:25.
- Samperio Ventayol P, Geiser P, Di Martino ML, Florbrant A, Fattinger SA, Walder N, Sima E, Shao F, Gekara NO, Sundbom M, Hardt WD, Webb DL, Hellström PM, Eriksson J, Sellin ME (2021). Bacterial detection by NAIP/NLRC4 elicits prompt contractions of intestinal epithelial cell layers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 118(16):e2013963118.
- Sato T, Vries RG, Snippert HJ, van de Wetering M, Barker N, Stange DE, van Es JH, Abo A, Kujala P, Peters PJ, Clevers H (2009). Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures in vitro without a mesenchymal niche. Nature 459:262-265.
- Schaffartzik A, Hamza E, Janda J, Crameri R, Marti E, Rhyner C (2012). Equine insect bite hypersensitivity: what do we know? Vet Immunol Immunopathol 147(3-4):113-126.
- Schnabel CL, Babasyan S, Freer H, Wagner B (2017). Quantification of equine immunoglobulin A in serum and secretions by a fluorescent bead-based assay. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 188:12-20.
- Schneider C, O'leary CE, Locksley RM (2019). Regulation of immune responses by tuft cells. Nat Rev Immunol 19(9):584-593.
- Schreurs RRCE, Baumdick ME, Drewniak A, Bunders MJ (2021). *In vitro* coculture of human intestinal organoids and lamina propria-derived CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. STAR Protoc 2(2):100519.
- Schulte LN, Schweinlin M, Westermann AJ, Janga H, Santos SC, Appenzeller S, Walles H, Vogel J, Metzger M (2020). An Advanced Human Intestinal Coculture Model Reveals Compartmentalized Host and Pathogen Strategies during *Salmonella* Infection. mBio 11(1):e03348-19.
- Sckisel GD, Bouchlaka MN, Monjazeb AM, Crittenden M, Curti BD, Wilkins DE, Alderson KA, Sungur CM, Ames E, Mirsoian A, Reddy A, Alexander W, Soulika A, Blazar BR, Longo DL, Wiltrout RH, Murphy WJ (2015). Outof-Sequence Signal 3 Paralyzes Primary CD4(+) T-Cell-Dependent Immunity. Immunity 43(2):240-50.
- Shears RK, Bancroft AJ, Huges GW, Grencis RK, Thornton DJ (2018). Extracellular vesicles induce protective immunity against Trichuris muris. Parasite Immunol 40:e12536.
- Smith D, Price DRG, Burrells A, Faber MN, Hildersley KA, Chintoan-Uta C, Chapuis AF, Stevens M, Stevenson K, Burgess STG, Innes EA, Nisbet AJ, McNeilly TN (2021). The development of ovine gastric and intestinal organoids for studying ruminant host-pathogen interactions. Preprint. BioRxiv 2021.06.30.450542.
- Sorobetea D, Svensson-Frej M, Grencis R (2018). Immunity to gastrointestinal nematode infections. Mucosal Immunol 11(2):304-315.

- Spalinger MR, Sayoc-Becerra A, Santos AN, Shawki A, Canale V, Krishnan M, Niechcial A, Obialo N, Scharl M, Li J, Nair MG, McCole DF (2020). PTPN2 regulates interactions between macrophages and intestinal epithelial cells to promote intestinal barrier function. Gastroenterology 159(5):1763-1777.
- Staab JF, Lemme-Dumit JM, Latanich R, Pasetti MF, Zachos NC (2020). Co-culture system of human enteroids/colonoids with innate immune cells. Curr Protoc Immunol 131(1):e113.
- Steiler Stewart A, Freund JM, Gonzalez LM (2018). Advanced three-dimensional culture of equine intestinal epithelial stem cells. Eq Vet J 50:241–248.
- Steuer AE, Stewart JC, Barker VD, Adams AA, Nielsen MK (2020). Cytokine and goblet cell gene expression in equine cyathostomin infection and larvicidal anthelmintic therapy. Parasite Immunol 42(6):e12709.
- Srinivasan B, Kolli AR, Esch MB, Abaci HE, Shuler ML, Hickman JJ (2015). TEER measurement techniques for in vitro barrier model systems. J Lab Autom 20(2):107-126.
- Suzuki T, Hayman L, Kilbey A, Edwards J, Coffelt SB (2020). Gut γδ T cells as guardians, disruptors, and instigators of cancer. Immunol Rev 298(1):198-217.
- Swiderski CE, Klei TR, Folsom RW, Pourciau SS, Chapman A, Chapman MR, Moore RM, Mcclure JR, Taylor HW, Horohov DW (1999). Vaccination against Strongylus vulgaris in ponies: comparison of the humoral and cytokine responses of vaccinates and nonvaccinates. Adv vet Med 41:389-404.
- Takahashi H, Takeshita T, Morein B, Putney S, Germain RN, Berzofsky JA (1990). Induction of CD8+ cytotoxic T cells by immunization with purified HIV-1 envelope protein in ISCOMs. Nature 344(6269):873-5.
- Tschetter JR, Davis WC, Perryman LE, McGuire TC (1997). CD8 dimer usage on  $\alpha\beta$  and  $\gamma\delta$  T lymphocytes from equine lymphoid tissues. Immunobiol 198:424-438.
- Trelis M, Galiano A, Bolado A, Toledo R, Marcilla A, Bernal D (2016). Subcutaneous injection of exosomes reduces symptom severity and mortality induced by Echinostoma caproni infection in BALB/c mice. Int J Parasitol 46:799-808.
- Tritten L, Geary TG (2018). Helminth extracellular vesicles in host-parasite interactions. Curr Opin Microbiol 46:73-79.
- Tsuji N, Suzuki K, Kasuga-Aoki H, Matsumoto Y, Arakawa T, Ishiwata K, Isobe T (2001). Intranasal immunization with recombinant Ascaris suum 14-kilodalton antigen coupled with cholera toxin B subunit induces protective immunity to A. suum infection in mice. Infect Immun 69(12):7285-92.

- Turk MAM, Klei TR (1984). Effect of ivermectin treatment on eosinophilic pneumonia and other extravascular lesions of late *Strongylus vulgaris* larval migration in foals. Vet Pathol 21:87-92.
- Tydén E, Larsen Enemark H, Andersson Franko M, Höglund J, Osterman-Lind E (2019). Prevalence of Strongylus vulgaris in horses after ten years of prescription usage of anthelminthics in Sweden. Vet Parasitol 279:100013.
- Van de Sandt CE, Kreijtz JH, Geelhoed-Mieras MM, Vogelzang-van Trierum SE, Nieuwkoop NJ, van de Vijver DA, Fouchier RA, Osterhaus AD, Morein B, Rimmelzwaan GF (2014). Novel G3/DT adjuvant promotes the induction of protective T cells responses after vaccination with a seasonal trivalent inactivated split-virion influenza vaccine. Vaccine 32(43):5614-23.
- Van der Hee B, Loonen LMP, Taverne N, Taverne-Thiele JJ, Smidt H, Wells JM (2018). Optimized procedures for generating an enhanced, near physiological 2D culture system from porcine intestinal organoids. Stem Cell Res 28:165-171.
- Van Wyk JA, Mayhew E (2013). Morphological identification of parasitic nematode infective larvae of small ruminants and cattle: a practical lab guide. Onderstepoort J Vet Res 80:E1-E14.
- Vendrig JC, Fink-Gremmels J (2012). Intestinal barrier function in neonatal foals: options for improvement. Vet J 193:32-37.
- Vendrig JC, Coffeng LE, Fink-Gremmels J (2013). Effects of separate and concominant TLR-2 and TLR-4 activation in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of newborn and adult horses. PLoS One 8(6):e66897.
- Vivier E, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, Koyasu S, Locksley RM, McKenzie ANJ, Mebius RE, Powrie F, Spits H (2018). Innate Lymphoid Cells: 10 Years On. Cell 174(5):1054-1066.
- Von Moltke J, Ji M, Liang H, Locksley RM (2016). Tuft-cell-derived IL-25 regulates an intestinal ILC2-epithelial response circuit. Nature 529:221-225.
- Wagner B (2006). Immunoglobulins and immunoglobulin genes of the horse. Dev Comp Immunol 30:155-164.
- Wagner B, Burton A, Ainsworth D (2010). Interferon-gamma, interleukin-4 and interleukin-10 production by T helper cells reveals intact Th1 and regulatory TR1 cell activation and a delay of the Th2 cell response in equine neonates and foals. Vet res 41:57.
- Wang SH, Zheng HJ, Dissanayake S, Cheng WF, Tao ZH, Lin SZ, Piessens WF (1997). Evaluation of recombinant chitinase and SXP1 antigens as antimicrofilarial vaccines. Am J Trop Med Hyg 56 (4):474-81.
- Wang S, Hu D, Wang C, Tang X, Du M, Gu X, Sou J, Hu M, Fang R, Zhu X, Zhang X, Du A, Sou X, Liu X (2019). Transcriptional profiling of innate immune responses in sheep PBMCs induced by Haemonchus contortus soluble extracts. Parasit vectors 12(1):182.

- Wattrang E, Berg M, Magnusson M (2005). Immunostimulatory DNA activates production of type I interferons and interleukin-6 in equine peripheral blood mononuclear cells in vitro. Vet Immunol Immunopath 107(3-4):265-279.
- Wattrang E, Palm AK, Wagner B (2012). Cytokine production and proliferation upon in vitro oligodeoxyribonucleotide stimulation of equine peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 146:113-124.
- Wei J, Versteeg L, Liu Z, Keegan B, Gazzinelli-Guimarães AC, Fujiwara R, Briggs N, Jones KM, Strych U, Beaumier CM, Bottazzi ME, Hotez PJ, Zhan B (2017). Yeast-expressed recombinant As16 protects mice against Ascaris suum infection through induction of a Th2-skewed immune response. PloS Negl Trop Dis 11(7):e0005769.
- Werners AH, Bryant CE (2012). Pattern recognition receptors in equine endotoxaemia and sepsis. Eq Vet j 44(4): 490-498.
- Wiedemann M, Voeringer D (2020). Immunomodulation and immune escape strategies of gastrointestinal helminths and schistosomes. Front Immunol 11:572865.
- Wikström FH, Fossum C, Fuxler L, Kruse R, Lövgren T (2011). Cytokine induction by immunostimulatory DNA in porcine PBMC is impaired by a hairpin forming sequence motif from the genome of Porcine Circovirus type 2 (PCV2). Vet Immunol Immunopathol 139(2-4):156-66.
- Zaiss MM, Maslowski KM, Mosconi I, Guenat N, Marsland BJ, Harris NL (2013). IL-1β suppresses innate IL-25 and IL-33 production and maintains helminth chronicity. PLoS Pathog 9(8):e1003531.
- Żak A, Bajzert J, Siwińska N, Chełmońska-Soyta A (2021). The relationship between the level of unspecific sIgA and the fecal small strongyle egg count in feaces of domestic horses. The 7th European Veterinary Immunology Workshop (EVIW2021), Belgrade, Serbia, Aug 29-31.
- Zawawi A, Else KJ (2020). Soil-transmitted helminth vaccines: are we getting closer? Front Immunol 11:576748.
- Zhang Y, Wang L, Ruan W, Zhang J, Yao P, Zhou S, An J (2014). Immunization with recombinant 3-1E protein in AbISCO®-300 adjuvant induced protective immunity against Eimeria acervulina infection in chickens. Exp Parasitol 141:75-81.
- Ziegler A, Marti E, Summerfield A, Baumann A (2016). Identification and characterization of equine blood plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Dev Comp Immunol 65:352-357.

### Popular science summary

The equine large strongyle (*Strongylus vulgaris*) is considered to be the most dangerous parasite of horses. Recent reports of an increased prevalence of *S. vulgaris* in Sweden along with concerns about drug resistance motivates development of a vaccine to control this parasite.

Formulation of vaccines against intestinal worms have always been a challenge. Gastro-intestinal (GI) worms commonly progress from eggs through multiple developmental stages, referred to as "larval (L) stages" until becoming adult worms. The various developmental stages are separated by molting events when the cuticle surrounding the larval body is released. These shifts between larval stages are typically fast and accompanied by migrations through different organs and tissues. In addition, molecules produced and released by helminths referred to as excretory-secretory (ES) products are immunomodulatory, meaning that they can interfere with the host's immune response. Rapid shifts between larval stages along with the parasite's inbuilt capacity to manipulate immune response makes it difficult for the immune system to mount a response needed to develop immunological memory. To guide the immune response on the right path, immune stimulatory substances, called adjuvants, can be included in the vaccine formula to increase vaccine efficiency.

A better understanding how GI worms interact with the host's immune system and how unwanted immunological reactions can be balanced are critical to develop effective vaccines against GI worms. To address these issues, immune reactions to *S. vulgaris* larvae and a novel adjuvant called "G3" were studied in laboratory cell culture models built up by immune cells isolated from equine blood (PBMC) and stem cells isolated from the intestine (enteroids).

Immune reactions to *S. vulgaris* larvae and/or the G3 adjuvant were mainly estimated by qPCR analysis of cytokine genes. Cytokines are small signaling proteins that play an essential role in initiation of immune responses. By measuring cytokine genes, we can in theory get a good idea how certain stimuli act on immune cells and what the ensuing immune response will be like.

Enteroids are three-dimensional lab-grown "miniature intestines" resembling the composition and function of the real intestine. To enable studies of host-parasite interactions in the equine intestine, methods to culture enteroid cells on a two-dimensional plane, as a "monolayer", were established. The equine enteroids and enteroid monolayers were evaluated with regards of their cell composition and responsiveness to bacterial or viral mimics. The equine enteroid monolayers displayed genetic and functional similarities with the equine intestine making it a suitable laboratory model for studies of host-GI parasite interactions in the horse.

It is well established that the interplay between the cells of the intestinal barrier and underlying immune cells are important for initiating immune responses against worm infections. Therefore, the enteroid culture system was further expanded using enteroid monolayers co-cultured with equine PBMCs. A simulated infection with *S. vulgaris* exL3s indicate a cross-communication between the enteroid monolayer cells and the equine PBMCs. Thus, this co-culture model can therefore be used to generate additional knowledge how immune cells reacts to intestinal parasites during the early phase of infection.

Horses are infected by *S. vulgaris* by ingesting infective third stage larvae (L3) on pasture. During the first phase of infection, the larvae penetrate the intestinal wall and mature to the fourth larval stage (L4) before starting its migration through the blood vessels of the intestine. To study how these early life cycle changes influence the immune response, methods for culture of *S. vulgaris* from the third to the fourth stage were established, generating three *S. vulgaris* preparations defined as "L3", "exsheated L3" (exL3) and "L4". Cultures of equine PBMC were thereafter exposed to larvae weakened by UV-irradiation and analyzed for their expression of cytokine genes. The

results show that both *S. vulgaris* L3 and exL3 induced gene expression of cytokines that is typically associated with worm infection. The L4 stage, however, induced a skewed cytokine profile compared to the earlier stages indicating that the developmental stages in the life cycle of *S. vulgaris* may generate different immune responses. This diversity depending on the life cycle stage will likely have implications for the choice of components to include in a future vaccine.

To increase vaccine efficiency, an adjuvant is commonly included in the vaccine formula. Our studies on the he G3 adjuvant show an up-regulation of cytokine genes not typically associated with a parasitic response. However, the G3 adjuvant were shown to balance the response by other immunostimulatory compounds and *S. vulgaris* L3s. This feature makes G3 is an interesting candidate adjuvant for use in equine vaccines with prospects of balancing undesired immune responses.

To sum up, this thesis adds on new knowledge about the diversity of the cytokine response to different larval stages of *S. vulgaris*, which is important to understand the initial response to this parasite. Establishment of equine enteroids and enteroid monolayers brings new possibilities to study interactions between *S. vulgaris* and the equine intestine and can in future studies be used for initial screenings of vaccine candidates.

## Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Den stora blodmasken (*Strongylus vulgaris*) anses vara hästens farligaste parasit. Rapporter om en ökad förekomst av *S. vulgaris* i Sverige samt risken för resistensutveckling mot avmaskingsmedel motiverar utvecklingen av ett vaccin för att bekämpa denna parasit.

Framställning av vacciner mot inälvsmaskar har alltid varit en utmaning. Inälvsmaskar utvecklas vanligtvis från ägg genom flera utvecklingsstadier, kallade "larv (L) stadier" tills de blir vuxna maskar. Mellan de olika utvecklingsstadierna släpper larven sitt yttre hölje vilket ofta åtföljs av migrationer genom olika organ och vävnader. Dessutom kan larver utsöndra så kallade "ES-produkter" som kan påverka värddjurets immunförsvar. Snabba skiften mellan olika larvstadier tillsammans med parasitens inbyggda förmåga att vilseleda värddjurets immunsvar gör det svårt formulera ett effektivt vaccin mot inälvsmaskar. För att leda immunförsvaret på rätt väg kan ett immunstimulerande ämne, ett så kallat adjuvans, tillsättas för att öka vaccineffekten.

En bättre förståelse för hur inälvsmaskar interagerar med värddjurets immunförsvar och hur oönskade immunologiska reaktioner kan balanseras är avgörande för att utveckla effektiva vacciner mot inälvsmaskar. För att studera hur *S. vulgaris* interagerar med hästens immunförsvar, användes cellodlingsmodeller uppbyggda av immunceller från hästens blod (mononukleära blodceller) och stamceller isolerade från hästens tarm (enteroider) för att studera immunreaktioner mot *S. vulgaris* larver och ett nytt adjuvans kallat "G3". Immunreaktioner mättes framförallt genom qPCR-analys av cytokiner. Cytokiner är små signalproteiner som spelar en viktig roll vid initiering av ett immunsvar. Genom att mäta uttryck av gener som kodar för cytokiner kan vi i teorin få en uppfattning om hur vissa stimuli verkar på immunceller och hur det efterföljande immunsvaret kan komma att se ut.

Enteroider är tredimensionella labb-odlade "miniatyrtarmar" som liknar den verkliga tarmens sammansättning och funktion. För att kunna studera interaktioner mellan *S. vulgaris* och hästens tarm etablerades metoder för att odla enteroida celler som ett s.k. monolayer, d.v.s. ett enskiktat lager av celler. Enteroiderna och enteroida monolayers utvärderades med avseende på deras uppsättning av celltyper och förmåga att inducera cytokiner vid stimulering med strukturer typiska för bakterier och virus. De enteroida monolayerna visade både genetiska och funktionella likheter med hästens tarm vilket gör dem till en lämplig laboratoriemodell för att studera inälvsparasiter i häst.

Det är välkänt att samspelet mellan tarmcellerna och underliggande immunceller är viktigt för att initiera ett immunsvar mot inälvsmaskar. Därför utvecklades det enteroida odlingssystemet ytterligare genom att samodla enteroida monolayer med ekvina immunceller. En simulerad infektion med infektiösa *S. vulgaris* larver indikerade att tarmcellerna kommunicerar med immuncellerna genom produktion av cytokiner. Denna samodlingsmodell skulle därför kunna användas för att generera ytterligare kunskap om hur immunförsvaret reagerar mot inälvsparasiter under det tidiga infektionsskedet.

Hästar infekteras av *S. vulgaris* när de får i sig infektiösa tredje stadiets larver (L3) på ett smittat bete. Under den första infektionsfasen penetrerar larverna tarmväggen och mognar till det fjärdelarvstadiet (L4) innan de börjar migrera genom tarmens blodkärl. För att studera hur dessa tidiga livscykelförändringar påverkar immunsvaret, etablerades metoder för odling av *S. vulgaris* larver från det tredje till fjärde larvstadiet. Detta genererade tre *S. vulgaris* preparat definerade dom "L3", "exL3" och "L4". Ekvina immunceller exponerades därefter för dessa larvpreparationer försvagade genom UV-bestrålning. Resultaten visar L3 och exL3 stadierna av *S. vulgaris* inducerar cytokiner som är typiskt associerade med maskinfektion. Till skillnad från de tidigare stadierna, inducerade L4 stadiet en avvikande cytokinprofil vilket antyder att olika utvecklingsstadier av *S. vulgaris* kan ge upphov till olika immunsvar. Dessa olikheter i immunsvar beroende på livscykelstadie kommer sannolikt att påverka valet av komponenter som bör inkluderas i ett framtida vaccin mot *S. vulgaris*.

För att öka vaccineffektiviteten brukar vanligtvis ett adjuvans tillsättas. Våra studier på G3 adjuvanset visar på en uppreglering av cytokiner som vanligtvis inte brukar associeras med tarmparasiter. Dock kunde G3 adjuvanset balansera cytokinsvaret mot andra immunstimulerande ämnen och *S. vulgaris* larver. Denna egenskap gör G3 adjuvanset intressant att fortsätta utvärdera för användning i hästvacciner där ett oönskat immunsvar behöver balanseras.

Sammanfattningsvis bidrar arbetet inom denna avhandling till ny kunskap om cytokinsvaret mot olika larvstadier av *S. vulgaris*, vilket är viktigt för att förstå hur immunförsvaret reagerar vid ett tidigt infektionsskede. Etablering av nya cellodlingssystem baserat på hästens tarmceller ger nya möjligheter att studera interaktioner mellan *S. vulgaris* och hästens immunförsvar i tarmen och kan i framtida studier användas för inledande screening av vaccinkandidater.

## Acknowledgements

First of all, I want to acknowledge the **Department of Biomedical Sciences** and Veterinary Public Health at SLU with Ivar Vågsholm as head of the department for accepting me as PhD student. The last few years have been an unforgettable experience and I have learned a lot. Thanks to all my colleagues at BVF!

It all started with a pilot project funded by the **Royal Swedish Agricultural Academy** followed by a generous grant from the **Swedish-Norwegian Foundation for Equine Research**. I want to thank the election committee with **Peter Kallings** as chair for daring to invest in our "high risk"-project. Last year, the foundation decided to support our project for another three years. I am so thankful for the trust. In addition, the project has been supported by grants from **Formas** and the **SLU Future One Health** platform. Travel grants were kindly provided by **Lennart Hjelm fund, the Royal Swedish Agricultural Academy** and the **International union of Immunological Sciences (IUIS EVIG/VIC)**.

This thesis would not have been possible without my dedicated supervisors. **Caroline**, I am so happy that I found you. A more engaged supervisor will be hard to find. You have not only thought me everything about veterinary immunology and research, you have also been a great support and motivator. I will always remember our travels to conferences and meetings, including Hop-On Hop-Off busses, bourbon tasting, shopping tourist merch, accidently arriving 5 days early to a meeting and etc.

**Bernt**, you have thought me everything I know about genes and qPCR. Without you, this project would have been difficult. Whenever I asked for help, you immediately stopped whatever you were doing to help me first. Thanks for your dedication.

**Eva**, except for teaching me about equine parasites, your engagement and curiosity in research has been an inspiration. Thanks for all the help and support!

**Manne**, you have opened many doors in this project. Thanks for the advices and inputs during these last years. I especially remember one time when you told me "research must be free... otherwise it is boring". Well, I agree.

I want to thank the people that have been working closest to me at BVF – the section of Immunology. Claudia, you are one of the kindest persons I have met and I am so thankful for the qPCR work you did for me this summer. Magnus, thanks for all the nice talks in the lab and the good advices you gave. Li, it was a pleasure getting to know you and I will always remember our holiday in China. I hope to visit you again one day (including eating loads of tofu and cuddle with pandas in Chengdu). Viktor, thanks for introducing me to research 6 years ago when I did my Master thesis project. You made me feel welcome. Thanks to Frida and Cecilia for doing your master thesis within this project.

The persons that really made this thesis possible are **the horse owners**, letting me take feces and blood from their precious horses. Your engagement and willingness to support research is admirable and I am so thankful for your contribution!

There are many people at VHC who have helped me along the way. Many thanks to **the team at VHC Godsmottagningen** for always being there. And thanks **Fiffi** for the plant cuttings (the pizza-plant is my favorite!). I want to thank **Stefan Örn** for reminding me about easy-to-forget-things like individual study plans and for checking in on me from time to time. Thanks **Lise-lotte Fernström** for helping me to prepare the cKW2 medium. Thanks **Albin Norman**, **Anna Svensson** and **Mansour Naghibi** for helping me to prepare my organoids for staining. Thanks **Mari Wallbring** and **Carola Jansson** for help with blood samples. Thanks to **Ove Watte** for providing fresh equine intestines. Thanks to **Karin Olofsson** for letting me use your archived intestines. Big thanks to the FACS-gurus **Eva Wattrang** and **Anders Johannisson** for teaching me the art of flow cytometry, for patiently answering all of my questions and helping me with the FACS machine.

I owe a big thank to the **Parasitology section** that kindly let me inside their lab. Especially thanks to **Frida Martin** for all the discussions about anything and everything. It has been really nice to have someone close that's in the same situation as I and that also work with an equine helminth. And thanks

to **Matthías Eydal** for spending your weekend collecting *S. vulgaris* worms at the abbatoir. It didn't work out as I'd hoped but it was definitely worth a try.

I want to thank **Martin Nielsen** for showing us the fantastic research facilities at **Gluck Equine Research Center** in Kentucky and for generously sharing your SvSXP protein with us. Your engagement in equine parasite research is an inspiration and I hope our collaboration will generate loads of interesting data. Many thanks to **Bror Morein** for letting me work with your adjuvant and for all the good advices along the way. Thanks to **Erik Lindblad** and **Kefei Hu** at CRODA for supporting the adjuvant studies. Thanks to **Pilar Samperio Ventayol** at BMC for showing me your organoids and kindly answering all of my questions.

During the last years I have been surrounded by **toxicologists** and it seems like they are multiplying...;) Especially thanks to **Maria** for taking care of Bonde at a time when she needed it the most. **Jennifer**, I am sorry we only got to share office for like 2 months before Covid arrived but at least we got to decorate our room together for Christmas. Thanks to **Geeta** for showing me how to make poori. I consider it to be one of my top 10 skills now. Thanks **Agneta** for your kind words and nice company at the workout classes at Friskis & Svettis.

To my fellow PhD students at virology: **Hedvig**, thanks for helping me collect blood samples for the project, and even more thanks for being a true whining-buddy. It's been nice to have someone around who truly understand the struggles of life, such as the male gender, cat vomits and where to find the best second hand (and thanks **Dan** for all the dinners you made!). **Pontus** you are basically the only one who listens when I talk about immunology, I am thankful for that. **Hanna**, I has been nice to have a real west-coaster close by! And **Emeli**, I started to buy really expensive tea from a tea-shop, but I am not sure my wallet is thankful though :)

Thanks to all **infection biologists**, **agronomists** and **horse girls** for listening to my endless talks about immunology and parasites, although I think I often gave a too long answer to a polite "how is it going at work?-question".

The last thanks goes to my greatest (and probably only) fans. My family. Thanks **Mamma & Pappa** for teaching me 99 % of the skills needed to complete this thesis.

Thanks Nils for showing me that one should always accept a challenge.

Thanks **Sara** for never leaving me alone.

Thanks **Johan** for always being by my side.

#### Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae

#### Doctoral Thesis No. 2021:74

Concerns about antimicrobial resistance together with an increased prevalence of the equine parasite *Strongylus vulgaris* reported in Sweden motivates development of new prophylactic vaccines to control this parasite. This thesis established *ex vivo* methods to study reactions to *S. vulgaris* and/or vaccine candidates at the site of infection. Overall, the work within this thesis has generated new insights into the biology of *S. vulgaris* infection and generated methods that will aid in the development of a future vaccine.

**Stina Hellman** received her graduate education at the Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health. Her undergraduate degree was received from The Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences and Uppsala University.

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae presents doctoral theses from the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU).

SLU generates knowledge for the sustainable use of biological natural resources. Research, education, extension, as well as environmental monitoring and assessment are used to achieve this goal.

Online publication of thesis summary: http://pub.epsilon.slu.se/

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-825-7 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-826-4